BEFORE THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
ENERGY FACILITY SITING EVALUATION COUNCIL

In the Matter of the Application of:

Scout Clean Energy, LLC, for Horse Heaven Wind Farm, LLC, Applicant.

DOCKET NO. EF-210011

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF¹

TABLE OF CONTENTS

9		LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS / ACRONYMS
10	I.	INTRODUCTION 1
11 12	II.	STANDARD OF REVIEW BY EFSEC OF APPLICATIONS: THE "NET BENEFIT" TEST
13	III.	IMPROPER ELIMINATION OF SEPA ANALYSIS
14	IV.	APPLICATION IS INDEFINITE, INCOMPLETE AND INADEQUATE
15		4.1 Wind turbines: Size
16		4.2 Wind Turbines: Number
17		4.3 Project Phasing
18		4.4 Battery Energy Storage Plans 10
19		4.5 Water Supply
20		4.6 Benton County Conditional Use Criteria
21		4.7 Analysis of Alternatives
22	V.	THE PROJECT IS SUBSTANTIALLY OVERBUILT
23	VI.	BALANCING ANALYSIS DEMONSTRATES THAT THIS PROJECT HAS

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - i

¹ This post hearing brief does not revisit rulings made by the PALJ during the course of the adjudication, including decisions on motions to strike exhibits and testimony, as well as prehearing orders. These rulings and decisions have inappropriately and substantially limited TCC's ability to present its case. TCC's opposition and objections to such rulings are continued and reaffirmed. TCC further confirms and continues its request that the PALJ recuse himself as raised several times in these proceedings.

1		DIMINISHED AND LIMITED BENEFITS
2	VII.	BALANCING ANALYSIS INDICATES SIGNIFICANT HARM TO THE ELEMENTS AND VALUES THAT EFSEC IS REQUIRED TO PROTECT
3		7.1. Project Size, Scope and Scale.
4 5		7.2 Visual and Esthetic Impacts 18
_		7.2.1 Introduction
6 7		7.2.2 The Broad Benefits of Visual and Esthetic Resources
7 8		7.2.3 Legal Standard for Consideration of Visual and Esthetic Values in EFSEC Proceedings
9		7.2.4 Analysis of esthetic and visual benefits
10		7.2.5 Summary of visual and esthetic impacts
11		7.3 Wildlife Impacts
12		7.4 Yakama Nation Cultural Resources 32
13		7.5 Land Use Codes
14		7.6 Fire Fighting
15		7.7 Tourism, Local Economic Development and Property Values
16		7.8 Housing and Property Values 39
17		7.9 Recreation
18		7.10 Conclusion on Balancing
19 20	VIII.	FAILURE TO CONSIDER ALTERNATIVES AND MITIGATION MEASURESTO AVOID ADVERSE IMPACTS.44
20	IX.	REQUESTED ACTION
21		9.1 Incomplete Information 49
23		9.2. Balancing and "Net Benefit." 50
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		
	TCC'S	Display the second seco

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS / ACRONYMSTCC

2		
3	BESS	Battery Energy Storage Systems
4	DEIS	Draft Environmental Impact Statement (issued December 15, 2022
5	FEIS	Final Environmental Impact Statement
6	FVIA	The Final Visual Impact Analysis, Appendix 3.10-2, to the DEIS (April
7		2022) prepared by SWCA Environmental Consultants.
8	HHWF	Horse Heaven Wind Farm (the subject of this adjudication)
9	PALJ	Presiding Administrative Law Judge (Adam E. Torem)
10	PHO#2	Prehearing Order #2 (May 19, 2023)
11	SCE	Scout Clean Energy, Project Applicant
12	SEPA	State Environmental Policy Act
13	тсс	Tri-Cities C.A.R.E.S.
14	UASC	Updated Application for Site Certification (December 1, 2022)
15	YN	Tribes of the Yakama Nation
16		
17		
18		FORMAT FOR CITATIONS TO THE RECORD
19	TRANSCRI	PTS: Tr. [Page #]:[Line#]; Tr. [Page#:Line#-Page#:Line#]
20	DEPOSITIO	NS: [Deponent] Dep at [Page #]:[Line#]
21	EXHIBITS:	Admitted exhibits by Exhibit number (EXH-####_[ref])
22		Comments in the record by assigned Comment #
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		LAW OFFICES OF J. RICHARD ARAMBURU, PLLC 7052 ^{MD} AVE., SUITE 1300 SEATTLE 98104
	TCC'S POST	HEARING BRIEF - iii SEATTLE 98104 Telephone (206) 625-9515 FAX (206) 682-1376 aramburulaw.com

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

I. INTRODUCTION²

The Horse Heaven Wind project promoted by Applicant Scout Clean Energy is, by far, the largest renewable project ever proposed in Washington. The 231 wind turbines alone stretch over 25 miles, in rows of 2-4 turbines each, from south of Benton City to Finley, south of the Yakima River and Columbia Rivers and east of Kennewick.³ It is hard to grasp the size of the project; a drive of half hour or more is required to see the whole proposal. As a helpful comparison, it is twenty-five miles between downtown Tacoma and Capitol Way in Olympia along I-5, or from downtown Seattle to North Bend along I-90.

10 Each wind turbine will be 496 feet from the ground to the top of the blade⁴, just 11 short of the height of the Space needle in Seattle (605 feet). The turbine blades 12 themselves are 459 feet in diameter, comprising fully 92% of the height. By way of 13 comparison, the Smith Tower in downtown Seattle is 462 feet to the light globe on the 14 top of the pyramid.⁵ The visual impact of wind turbines is unique because they will be 15 moving (rotating), presenting a sustained attraction to the eye. Spinning blades the 16 dimensions of the Smith Tower's height are hard to comprehend; there are no 17 simulations or video of moving blades in the application material to help the decision maker. 18

There are *no single structures* approaching the overall height of the proposed wind turbines in the Tri-Cities community, much less 231 structures located right next to

² The formats for citations to the hearing transcript and exhibits are found following the Table of Contents.

³ On August 8, 2023, the Applicant filed the "Moon Memo" (addressed to Ms. Amy Moon; EXH-4014_X) that advised EFSEC of the required modification of the proposal to 231 turbines. Though the DEIS and UASC apply the 244 number, TCC will use the updated figure.

⁴ UASC, page 4-16 (GE 3.03 MW Turbine).

⁵ https://www.historylink.org/File/4310.

each other rotating at 5 to 20 revolutions per minute.⁶ To further exacerbate the 2 impact, the project is perched some 1000 to 2500 feet above the South Columbia 3 Basin,⁷ such that more than 300,000 residents within ten miles of the project will see the turbines from their homes, businesses, parks and streets, including the two largest cities in Benton County, Richland and Kennewick.

Tri-Cities C.A.R.E.S. (TCC) is a community non-profit, Section 501(c)(3)organization with the mission to protect the environment and the residents and business owners in the greater Tri-Cities region from the significant adverse impacts of the proposal.⁸ As will be described herein, TCC has the documented support of many local residents as well as local governments, civic and community organizations; a list of these entities and organizations is found herein on pages 36-37. Indeed, the newspaper of record in Benton County, the Tri-City Herald, has also published numerous editorials supporting the work of TCC in opposing the project. Id. See EXH-5303 T.

TCC requested and was granted intervenor status in PHO#1. In PHO#2 (page 4), the PALJ acknowledges TCC's "significant interest in wildlife and ecosystem conservation as well as local decision-making to preserve the community's uniquely picturesque natural landscapes."

PHO#2 also acknowledged the interests and concerns of other parties, including the Yakama Nation (YN) and Benton County.⁹ To save Council time and resources, TCC has deferred to the experience of the YN in the presentation of wildlife testimony,

⁸ TCC's petition to intervene was granted in the Preliminary Order on Intervention, March 9, 2023.

⁹ TCC joins with Benton County and the YN in requesting that the Council schedule oral argument as an opportunity for the Council to hear from the parties and, most importantly, to ask questions of the parties concerning the content of briefing.

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 2

⁶ UASC at 2-46.

⁷ See UASC topographic maps in Figure 2.3-3 (pages 2-19 to 2-44)

though TCC retains substantial concerns regarding these impacts, especially the
impacts on the Ferruginous Hawk. TCC also has continuing interest in maintaining
consistency with the Benton County land use code and Comprehensive Plan, including
the County's conditional use criteria. However, given Council direction to "limit its
participation and presentation of evidence on land use topics and coordinate its
concerns with the County," TCC has recognized that Benton County is the lead agency
for land use issues, again consistent with PHO#2.

8 This Council is charged by the Legislature: "to seek courses of action that will 9 balance the increasing demands for energy facility location and operation in conjunction with the broad interest of the public." RCW 80.50.010. As will be discussed 10 11 in greater detail herein, the project has multiple locational, physical and regulatory 12 constraints and limitations that severely limit its benefits. On the other side of the 13 balancing equation are multiple and significant adverse impacts that have not been avoided or mitigated. As such the Applicant's proposal does not pass this Council's 14 15 balancing test which requires a demonstration "net benefit."

16 II. STANDARD OF REVIEW BY EFSEC OF APPLICATIONS: THE "NET BENEFIT" TEST.

This Council is charged with a balancing test to protect the public interest. This test is articulated in *Whistling Ridge* Order 868:

The council must consider whether this project will produce a <u>net benefit</u> after balancing the legislative directive to provide abundant energy at reasonable cost with the impact to the environment and the broad interest of the public.

Page 15 (emphasis supplied). This standard was affirmed in the Supreme Court review
of the *Whistling Ridge* decision: "Accordingly, it [the Council] found the main issue to
be determining if the project would create <u>a net benefit</u> after considering the impacts." *Friends of the Columbia Gorge, Inc. v State Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council,* 178
Wn.2d 320, 330 (2013) (emphasis supplied). The "net benefit" test does not include

J. RICHARD ARAMBURU, PLLC 705 2[№] AVE., SUITE 1300 SEATTLE 98104 Telephone (206) 625-9515 FAX (206) 682-1376 aram burulaw.com

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 3

18

19

20

21

27

1 whether a project would make a profit for the Applicant, as this Council ruled in its 2 Order on Reconsideration in the Whistling Ridge matter, Order 870 (December 27, 3 2011) at page 12: "The Council's decision does not turn on questions of whether the 4 project would be economically feasible for the Applicant." Conversely, EFSEC is 5 charged with reviewing clean energy proposals for financial impacts to electric 6 <u>consumers</u>, by the established premises that a proposal must also meet "the state's 7 objectives in providing affordable energy" and "(4) To provide abundant clean energy at 8 reasonable cost," both in RCW 80.50.010. The "affordable energy" and "reasonable 9 cost" criteria apply independent of, and contrary to, an applicant's desire to maximize 10 economic return from a proposed project. 11 Informing the Council on the "net benefit" issues are the "premises" for action in 12 RCW 80.50.010, including: 13 (2) To preserve and protect the quality of the environment; to enhance the public's opportunity to enjoy the esthetic and recreational benefits of the air, 14 water and land resources; to promote air cleanliness; to pursue beneficial changes in the environment; and to promote environmental justice for 15 overburdened communities. 16 As seen, the Council has the obligation to "<u>enhance</u> the public's opportunity to enjoy 17 the esthetic and recreational benefit of the air, water and land resources." This is 18 confirmed in the Council's Whistling Ridge Order 868 at page 18, footnote 28: 19 In acting upon any application for certification, the council action will be based 20 on the policies and premises set forth in RCW 80.50.010, including, but not limited to: (2) Enhancing the public's opportunity to enjoy the esthetic and recreational 21 benefits of the air, water and land resource. 22 These standards are further quantified by the premise that new clean energy 23 facilities "will produce minimal adverse effects on the environment, ecology of the land 24 and its wildlife, and the ecology of state waters and their aquatic life." RCW 80.50.010. 25 These "premises" also become action-forcing measures "consistent with its obligation 26 to take actions necessary to protect community interests without regard to preemption." 27 28 LAW OFFICE SOF J. RICHARD ARAMBURU, PLLC 705 2ND AVE., SUITE 1300 SEATTLE 98104 Telephone (206) 625-9515 FAX (206) 682-1376

aram burulaw.com

RCW 80.50.010(1) (emphasis supplied). Whistling Ridge Order 868 at 18, as clarified in Footnote 26, which includes the requirement that: "The Council shall include conditions to implement the provisions of this chapter, including, but not limited to conditions to protect state or local governmental or community interests affected by the construction or operation of the energy facility," citing RCW 80.50.010(1).

6 With regard to scenic and visual issues, this Council has rejected the contention 7 that it could not mitigate adverse visual impacts "because there are no performance 8 standards for aesthetics in WAC 463-62." Order 868 at 17. Similarly, the Council 9 summarily rejected the Applicant's claim: "that consideration of aesthetic issues should 10 be exclusively within the SEPA process." Order 868 at 18. The Council further cited 11 decisions in the *Kittitas Valley* and *Desert Claim* cases in Order 868, where it "required 12 further alterations of turbine siting" in "response to view scape concerns." *Id.* In 13 Whistling Ridge, the Council reduced the number of turbines allowed from 50 to 35, 14 recognizing the significant impacts on wildlife and ecosystem conservation, as well as 15 preservation of the community's uniquely picturesque natural landscapes.

EFSEC's deliberations and decision-making on whether a "net benefit" is achieved are not a closed-door process between the Applicant and the Council and its Staff. As RCW 80.50.010 makes clear, the Council must "conduct a public process that is transparent and inclusive to all with particular attention to overburdened communities" and must encourage "public comment and participation in energy facility decisions." The statute makes clear new energy facilities are a <u>public</u> concern requiring <u>public</u> involvement.¹⁰

As seen in TCC's presentations during the adjudication, the balancing analysis clearly dictates <u>against</u> approval of the Applicant's proposal because of the significant,

1

2

3

4

¹⁰ This is consistent with the holding of this Council, that much like water, "Air and the force of wind are identified as natural resources." See, e.g., Wikipedia, the "Free Encyclopedia " as cited in this Council's *Whistling Ridge* Order 868 at page 13, FN21.

irretrievable, unmitigated negative impacts on esthetic and visual resources, wildlife, cultural resources, local economics and fire suppression, among others.

III. **IMPROPER ELIMINATION OF SEPA ANALYSIS.**

4 In the Whistling Ridge matter, the Council recognized that it "must comply with the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), RCW 43.21C and WAC 463-47." Order 6 868 at 6. It further recognized that before "making its recommendation to the Governor, 7 the Council must consider a Final Environmental Impact Statement." Id. However, 8 Order 868 explained that: "In this matter however, production of the FEIS was delayed and it was not received in the adjudicative record." Id. However here, the FEIS was 9 10 withheld from the adjudication not because of delay, but as a matter of policy.

11 Early in the adjudication, in PHO#2 (May 19, 2023), the PALJ ordered that: "the 12 following issues will not be taken up during the adjudication unless specifically 13 authorized by a subsequent order issued following a party's motion. . ." See page 3 14 (emphasis in original). One of the prohibited issues was: "Compliance with the State 15 Environment Policy Act." On May 18, 2023, TCC, YN and Benton County each filed 16 objections to this interpretation of SEPA by motions to stay the adjudicative proceedings 17 until the FEIS was completed. However, on June 5, 2023, the PALJ issued his Order Denying Parties Motion to Stay/Continue, denying all requests for a stay or continuance 18 19 pending issuance of the FEIS, confirming the position taken in PHO#2, and further that: 20 The parties have the DEIS. That document informs the parties of EFSEC's SEPA responsible official's assessment of the potential impacts of the proposed project. 21

Order on Motions at page 6. The Order went on to say:

The parties have more than sufficient insight into the ongoing SEPA process to inform the development of their positions during the adjudication.

ld.

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

1

2

3

5

As of the date of writing this brief, EFSEC staff has not issued the FEIS, despite the passage of nearly seven months since the comment deadline (January 31, 2023).

1	However, in the agenda for its October 18, 2023 monthly meeting (issued on October
2	11), Council staff scheduled a "Final Environmental Impact Statement presentation" for
3	the Horse Heaven Wind Farm. A copy of that Agenda is attached as Appendix A.
4	Council staff sets the presentation of the FEIS just five days after the deadline set for
5	final briefing in the adjudication (October 13).
6	EFSEC's "Horse Heaven SEPA" webpage states: "the Final EIS is the official
7	final document that analyzes the adverse environmental impacts" (Emphasis
8	supplied). In the same paragraph, EFSEC staff explains:
9	The Final EIS provides a basis upon which the responsible agency and officials
10 11	can make the balancing judgment (e.g. environmental, welfare, social, economic) mandated by SEPA because it provides information on the environmental costs and impacts (WAC 197-11-448).
12	Contrary to the SEPA Rules requirement that: "the SEPA process shall be
13	integrated with agency activities at the <i>earliest</i> possible time," ¹¹ the parties proceed to
14	final briefing in this adjudication without the "official final document" which provides the
15	basis for the "balancing judgment" required from the Council. Moreover, the Horse
16	Heaven SEPA website itself makes clear:
17 18	Public review of the Draft EIS provides an opportunity to identify missing, incomplete, or incorrect information to be addressed in support of the completeness and accuracy of the Final EIS.
19	(Emphasis supplied). In sum, with the issuance of the FEIS, the DEIS is procedurally
20	superceded and irrelevant, and the parties (and the public) are deprived of their
21	opportunity to address the content of the FEIS in the adjudication. ¹²
22	The Council makes a continuing significant error by forcing the parties to prepare
23	briefing on a DEIS, that will become ineffective with the issuance of the FEIS. The
24	parties to the adjudication proceed to the critical final phase of the adjudication with one
25	
26	¹¹ WAC 197-11-055(1), emphasis added.
27	¹² EFSEC's "Horse Heaven SEPA" Website shows 2,497 comments were submitted on the DEIS.
28	Law Offices of J. Richard Aramburu, pllc

I

hand tied behind their backs, while the FEIS will be issued just days after closure of the adjudication.

The Council's continuing, severe and illogical reading of its obligation under SEPA risks reversal by a reviewing court, resulting in delay and significant expense to all involved.

IV. APPLICATION IS INDEFINITE, INCOMPLETE AND INADEQUATE.

Before the Council may consider a proposal, there must be adequate information
available regarding the project and its impacts. The Council rules, found in WAC 46360 specific the content: "The application shall provide the council with information
regarding the applicant, the proposed project design and features, the natural
environment, and the built environment." WAC 463-60-010. Apparently in the belief that
it can ignore major – and detrimental – shortcomings of its proposal, the Applicant has
refused to submit the minimum necessary information for this Council's review. A key
element, the failure of the Council to issue the FEIS, "the final document that analyzes
the adverse environmental Impacts of a proposal," is discussed above. But that is only
the beginning of the multiple mandatory elements regarding the project which are
missing from the current application.

Much of this deficiency comes from the vague nature of the proposal presented. This vagueness is deliberate: the Applicant wants as flexible a project as possible to appeal to the maximum number of buyers¹³. However, the Applicant's marketing plan cannot trump its regulatory obligations, including the following.

4.1 Wind turbines: Size.

One key element is the number and size of turbines. Scout identifies two "potential turbine specifications" at page 2-17 of the UASC; 244 turbines producing

¹³ Mr. Kobus says the Applicant: "has been investing considerable time and capital in bringing the largest project we can bring to market because that is what makes us successful." Dep at 104:16-19.

about 3 MW each, or 150 larger turbines with 5.5 or 6 MW nameplate production
rates.¹⁴ However, the Applicant's project manager indicates the smaller turbine "still
remains the ideal turbine for the project, and that's the 244, smaller platform equipment."
Kobus Dep at 27:25 to 28:2. Given this testimony, the Council should disregard and
decline to consider the Option 2 proposal for the larger 150 turbines.

4.2 Wind Turbines: Number.

While the project is described as having 244 turbines, in fact, because of "an agreement with the Department of Defense," only <u>235</u> turbines can be built on the site. Kobus Dep at 33:13-24.¹⁵ These 235 turbines are "precisely identified in the mitigation agreement" with the DOD. Kobus Dep at 35:5-8.

- 4.3 Project Phasing.
- The UASC states that:

The Project would likely be built using a "phased approach" with distinct, fully functional portions of the Project potentially being built in a staggered manner.

UASC at 2-100. This comes about because: "It is possible that the Applicant may transfer or sell all or portions of the Project to another development company or other entity." *Id.*

Though there are numerous maps showing potential turbine layouts (including in the August 8, 2023 Moon Memo, (EXH-4014_X), there is no drawing or map that depicts a phasing plan. Such information is critical for identifying and evaluating the efficacy of phasing to address critical impacts, as well as the alternatives analysis.

¹⁴ The Applicant has an "exclusive arrangement" to buy turbines for the project from General Electric. Kobus Dep at 28:12-20.

¹⁵ That 235 wind turbines are allowed is important in assessing the validity of the supposed mitigation of visual impacts found in the "Moon memo" (*See* EXH-4014_X). See Section 7.2 of this brief.

4.4 Battery Energy Storage Plans.

The Applicant proposes the Council approve, in addition to wind and solar elements, large battery storage facilities, known as Battery Energy Storage Systems or "BESS." The proposal says there will be two such facilities, each with a capacity of 150 MW, located on opposite sides of the project. UASC at 2-78. Other than a small rectangle on the Applicant's small-scale maps, and a generic description at page 2-78 of the Updated Application for Site Certification (UASC), there are no plans, designs or specifications for these large facilities; there is not even a photo or rendering showing what they will look like.

During the adjudication, the Applicant submitted no additional information about the BESS proposal, except to increase its size to 18 acres. EXH-4014_X, Section 11. Though the BESS described "would be capable of storing and later deploying up to 300 MW of energy generated by the project," no performance specifications are provided. Though the BESS might "deploy" energy, how long will such "deployment" last? Once the BESS is discharged, how long, under conditions prevalent in the Horse Heaven Hills, will it take to fully recharge them? Are the solar and wind turbine facilities proposed capable of such recharge during times of high demand on the system? An applicant for project approval of a BESS system is required to provide such minimal information.¹⁶

Before further consideration of the BESS proposal, the Applicant should be required to provided information addressing the technical specifications of these batteries at this specific location.

¹⁶ WAC 463-60-145 requires: "The applicant shall describe the characteristics of the construction to occur at the proposed site including the type, size, and cost of the facility; description of major components and such information as will acquaint the council with the significant features of the proposed project."

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 10

1

4.5 Water Supply.

WAC 463-60-165 requires an applicant to "submit a water right authorization or contractual right to use water supplied" by a water purveyor. Though identifying a couple of false starts with the City of Kennewick and the Port of Walla Walla, the Project Manager admits that it has <u>no</u> "contractual right for water," though the project would require 220,000 gallons per day just during construction (dust suppression). Kobus Dep at 119:18 to 120:1. Though the project manager says the Applicant has a "line of sight on water supply" (Kobus Dep at 167:3), and says the Applicant is "in negotiations with other parties," he concedes during cross-examination: "Do I have a signed agreement? No." Dep at 168:16-18. Mr. Kobus does clarify Scout does "not intend to drill our own wells." Dep 122:19-20.

Late in the hearing (August 8, 2034), the Moon Memo said the applicant was "currently working with DNR to assess the potential for a lease agreement that would allow for use of a portion of DNR's existing water right associated with the Gould Well" See EXH-4014_X at page 8. However, "assessing potential" for a water source is far from the water right or contract required by the regulation.

The concern here is not just hand washing and toilet flushing. The lithium-ion batteries are a well-known fire hazard that can burn for days. The Applicant proposes 12 <u>acres</u> of these batteries, and claims there are systems that control and contain fires. When asked: "What will be the source of water to fight a fire at the batteries?" the response was: Benton County Fire Districts 1 and 2. Dep at 126:24-25 to 127:1-5. While the Moon Memo claimed there was "updated information" on lithium-ion fires (EXH-4014 at 6), there is still no "emergency response plan" approved by the jurisdictional fire districts. Dep at 127:22-25 to 128:1-4 and EXH-4014 at 6-7.¹⁷

¹⁷ See, e.g., testimony from local fire districts and firefighters, which oppose the project as configured, in EXH-5631_R, EXH-5911-RECON, EXH-5912_S.

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 11

The requirements to demonstrate water availability in WAC 463-60-165 are straightforward and unequivocal: either a documented water right or a contract to provide water are required. An intent, or hope, or "line of sight" are not sufficient. The application should be denied for failure to meet minimum requirements for site certification applications.

4.6 Benton County Conditional Use Criteria.

1

2

3

4

5

6

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

7 On May 17, 2022, this Council entered Order 883 for this proposal, entitled 8 "ORDER FINDING PROPOSED SITE CONSISTENT WITH LAND USE 9 REGULATIONS." However, the project is a conditional use under applicable Benton 10 County Codes and Order 883 plainly states at page 7, Paragraph 23: "The Council's 11 land use consistency determination does not prejudge whether the Facility has met or 12 can meet Benton County's conditional use criteria." Compliance with the conditional 13 use criteria was deemed a "question for later EFSEC proceedings, ..." Id. Because the 14 Applicant did not obtain a conditional use permit from Benton County (or even apply for 15 one), the Applicant "retains the burden of proving the Site is indeed consistent and 16 compliant with the local jurisdiction's land use provisions." Order 883, page 4, Paragraph 17 14.

Consistency (or not) with conditional use provisions of the Benton County code
are predicate issues that must be resolved before the Council engages in its balancing
analysis.¹⁸

4.7 Analysis of Alternatives.

WAC 463-60-296 requires that an applicant include in its Application: "analysis of alternatives for site, route and other major elements of the proposal." As noted on pages 2-118 to 2-120 of the UASC, there is no consideration of any alternatives of the major elements of the proposal, including a smaller or reconfigured site plan. This is

¹⁸ TCC incorporates in full the Prehearing Brief of Benton County addressing these issues in detail.

because the applicant, through its Project Manager, remains firm that it wants to build the biggest project possible, to "max out" use of the site.¹⁹ This issue is considered in greater detail in Section VII of this brief, beginning at page 42.

The failure of the UASC to present and analyze alternatives to the project is a fatal flaw, requiring denial of the application.

4.8 Summary.

The application, and additional applicant submissions, delete critical elements
required by adopted EFSEC regulations, making the application indefinite, incomplete
and inadequate. Given the time this proposal has been before the Council (since
February, 2021), there is no excuse not to have full and complete information before the
Council for use in making its important decision. The Council should deny the
application outright. If not simply denied, the proposal should be remanded with
direction to staff to gather and analyze information on required project elements.

14 15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

1

2

3

4

5

6

V. THE PROJECT IS SUBSTANTIALLY OVERBUILT.

HHWP is a "merchant plant" with no end user, electric utility or commercial customer identified. SCE is "actively marketing this project now" to "anybody that will listen." Kobus Dep 26:2-25.

Notwithstanding the speculative nature of the project, Mr. Kobus readily admits Scout is a "big project" developer. Kobus Dep 108:6-8, lines 6-8. ("Yeah, there are small projects, there are big projects. We're a big project builder.") Indeed, SCE wants to build the "largest project we can bring to market because that's what makes us successful." *Id.* at 104:16-19. Mr. Kobus bristles at proposals to reduce the size of the project:

So the commercial case for this site is to build absolutely as much as we can to satisfy the market need. So any whittling away that we do of anything that generates as a part of this mix is hurting our prospects.

¹⁹ This is despite the fact that Applicant's project manager admits that: "I believe that there might be somebody out there that just wants Phase 1." Kobus Dep 106:7-14.

Kobus Dep at 104:16-24.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

23

24

25

26

27

28

As described above, despite its aspirations to build the biggest project possible, there was never an analysis of building a smaller project, with reduced adverse impacts. Kobus Dep at 97:2-98:4. However, as described in the UASC, Phase 1 (with the "ideal turbine size" of approximately 3 MW) would generally involve developing just the <u>east</u> <u>side</u> of the project and would have:

- 350 MW of wind
- 58 to 124 turbines (depending on the size selected)
- 300 MW solar
- 200 MW of Battery Energy Storage.²⁰

UASC at 2-101. The record reflects that neither the Applicant nor EFSEC staff have
ever seriously considered this phased or modified proposal as an alternative.

Though a smaller project is feasible, the Applicant is so enamored with big
projects, that is its proposal is deliberately and substantially overbuilt. This results from
limitations imposed by its preferred transmission provider, BPA, on the maximum
amount of power from the project that can be put into its transmission system.
Essentially, the Applicant's "eyes are bigger than its stomach."

After the original application for the project in February 2021, BPA limited the amount of power that this project can "inject" into its transmission system. This is grudgingly admitted in the updates to the Application. While BPA would agree to "connect" as much as 1150 MW of nameplate generating capacity to its transmission system, that connection is limited. As stated in the UASC at 2-16:

Up to 650 MW of nameplate generating capacity, limited to a 350 MW grid injection capacity, power could interconnect to the planned BPA 230- kilovolt (kV) Bofer Canyon substation. Up to 500 MW of nameplate generating capacity/grid injection capacitypower could interconnect to the planned BPA 500- kV Webber

²⁰ Though the Moon Memo indicates the East BESS will be reduced to 100 MW, the West BESS will be increased to 200 MW. See page 8.

Canyon substation.²¹

Thus no matter how strong the wind is blowing, or how intense the sunshine, even with the full nameplate capacity achieved, BPA can <u>accept only 850 MW</u> for injection into the system and delivery to an end user.²² The "grid injection capacity" is like a governor on a gas engine, it limits the amount of energy that can be injected to the electrical grid at any one time.²³ Accordingly, while the applicant touts the project as having 1150 MW of "nameplate capacity," in fact the most the project can deliver for use by the end user is 850 MW, a difference of 300 MW or only 74% of its advertised output.

Undeterred by the reality of the recent limitations on transmission capacity from BPA, the Applicant will not reduce the number of turbines it wants to install. Admitting the project is "overbuilt," the project manager says if actual injection into the BPA transmission falls below the 850 MW maximum grid injection capacity because wind stops blowing, hypothetically the solar facilities could be ramped up to keep up the maximum permitted output. As Mr. Kobus says: "The solar's there and available. It's daytime. We can start injecting the solar to maintain 350 megawatts, even though the wind has died down." Dep at 43:1-4. Though the "grid injection capacity" materially reduces the value of the project, the applicant states in the UASC: "This change by BPA does not alter the facility components proposed for the project." UASC at 2-15.²⁴ SCE intends to overbuild regardless.

²¹ The redline and strikeout (in blue) are in the original and reflect "updates" to the application. The UASC was submitted to the Council on December 1, 2022.

²² As the Applicant's project manager admits that the BPA system: "has limitations. I mean, wires have limits. Bonneville has to manage reliability on the grid, so they have to maintain the electrical characteristics of everybody that's interconnected with the grid." Kobus Dep. at 42:3-11.

²³ Much like a new electric vehicle that could go 140 mph with the installed engine, a governor restricts the top speed to 100 mph. Mr. Kobus admits: "But recognize you can never exceed your available injection capacity." Dep at 48: 5-10.

²⁴ At about 3 MW per turbine (UASC at 2-17), the 300 MW limitation is the equivalent of 100 turbines that should be removed in recognition of the reality limitation imposed by the "grid injection capacity."

In assessing "net benefit" of this project, the Council must consider both the potential for a smaller project, with less impacts, and whether this "overbuilt" project supports a finding of "net benefit."²⁵ In either case, the Council should determine, as part of the balancing analysis, that the project is far larger and more impactful than the circumstances support.

VI. **BALANCING ANALYSIS DEMONSTRATES THAT THIS PROJECT HAS** DIMINISHED AND LIMITED BENEFITS.

As identified above, the EFSEC organic legislation requires the Council to engage in a balancing analysis, ultimately to determine whether there is a "net benefit" to the public interest in approving, in whole or in part, a project subject to EFSEC jurisdiction.

On one side is the electric output of the project. SCE touts its project as beneficial based on the maximum output of the wind turbines and solar arrays, its "nameplate capacity." However, "nameplate" capacity is just for show, as it is not a true indicator of value or benefit, particularly for the wind turbines element of the project.²⁶ This is true for several reasons.

First, because the wind does not blow continuously and there are long periods of time they do not produce their nameplate (advertised) rating. In fact, the evidence confirms that capacity projections for the project "are much lower than modern wind farms are producing in the solid wind zones across the United States." See the testimony of Richard Simon, Simon Wind, TCC's wind energy expert, EXH-5501 T REVISED, page 8.

Second, the reality is that wind turbines only produce power when the wind blows. The windiest months are March and April (low electric load months) and the

²⁵ Nor were any of the redlines in the UASC included in the DEIS analysis of possible alternatives.

²⁶ TCC requested that the Applicant provide meteorological data for the site to assess the potential of the site for wind turbines, but that request was denied by the PALJ.

least windy season is summer (with high air conditioning loads). *Id.* at page 9.

<u>Third</u>, and in addition to the foregoing, regardless of whatever the <u>averages</u> may be for wind speeds, and hence what <u>average</u> electric output might be, at any instant in time when power is needed to meet demand, *the wind might not be blowing*. In common parlance, wind is a "fickle" resource. In technical parlance, a wind resource is not "dispatchable;" it cannot be turned on when a January cold spell hits the region to help with "load."

<u>Fourth</u>, particular to this proposal and partly as a result of the factors described above, this project is overbuilt because of the limits on transmission capacity.

In addition, though the ridgeline on the north side of project is claimed as a "high resource area," the rows of upwind turbines will create "wake losses" to the downwind turbines, reducing their value. EXH 5503_R (Richard Simon testimony).²⁷ Moreover, the existing Nine Canyon project is downwind of turbines on the eastern end of the project, but the Applicant has not "estimated the impacts of wake turbulence from the proposal on that project." Tr. 1475:15-21.

On the "benefit side" of the balancing equation, the proposal is a marginal project, in a marginal location, with limitations due to the proximity of the turbines to each other and the transmission limitation that the project cannot "inject" all of the power (that might be generated) into the BPA transmission grid. In the next section of this brief, we discuss the serious and substantial negative impacts of the proposal on the "detriment side" of the balancing test. This analysis demonstrates that the impacts of the project to esthetic resources, the environment, recreation, fire safety, property values and the local economy outweigh the benefits.

²⁷ Mr. Simon testified that the existing, but smaller Nine Canyon wind project, may be subject to "a significant wake loss" because winds to it are blocked by the current project. EXH-5503_R, page 4.

VII. BALANCING ANALYSIS INDICATES SIGNIFICANT HARM TO THE ELEMENTS AND VALUES THAT EFSEC IS REQUIRED TO PROTECT.

The other side of the balancing analysis that the Council must consider in determining whether a "net benefit" will result from a proposal is consideration of elements and values the Council is required to enhance or protect. As listed in Section II of this Brief, these include visual/esthetic resources, environmental values, wildlife, recreation, air quality, traditional tribal cultural issues and water supply, as provided in RCW 80.50.010. In this proceeding, the Council will also consider zoning issues (conditional use criteria), property values and tourism. See PHO#2, page 2. Cross-state comparisons are not appropriate for the Council in this analysis; as stated in the *Whistling Ridge* adjudication:

We do not find support in the record for the assumption that forestlands are by definition more worthy of protection than the shrub steppe lands in Eastern Washington.

Whistling Ridge Order 868 at page 27.

As will be seen, when detrimental aspects are included in the statutory balancing analysis, the proposal does not produce the "net benefit" required for approval.

These detrimental elements, linked to required elements of Council review, are listed below.

7.1. Project Size, Scope and Scale.

The sheer size of the project is hard to grasp. SCE proposes a 25-mile-long string of multiple rows of wind turbines following the ridgelines of the Horse Heaven Hills, generally parallel to I-82 and communities from Benton City past Kennewick, where it will impact more than 300,000 residents and visitors. Richard Simon, TTC wind energy expert²⁸ concludes – contrary to the Poulos testimony – that no existing

²⁸ As described in his resume, Mr. Simon has sited or performed due diligence on more than 35,000 MW of operating wind turbines, about 15 % of the installed capacity in the United States. See EXH-5502_T.

wind farm in the West impacts more nearby residents than the Horse Heaven project. EXH-5501_T_REVISED. The unrelenting esthetic impacts of this linear project on a large population are unique to this project; there are few 1000 MW wind farms in operation: the largest in Washington is only 343 MW. EXH-5501_REVISED.

The overwhelming size of the HHWF presents substantial detrimental impacts.

7.2 Visual and Esthetic Impacts.

1

2

3

4

5

6

25

26

27

28

7 7.2.1 Introduction. The visual impacts from this project and its esthetic 8 degradation are unequaled in this state, or other nearby states. This is due to five 9 factors. First is the very size of the proposal. It is more than twenty five miles long, 10 presenting a continuous and unbroken line of turbines over the entire distance. Second, 11 the impact of the turbines is magnified because there are several lines or rows of 12 turbines which overlap and thus appear larger in mass. Third, the wind turbines are 13 "skylined," prominent because they are set along a prominent ridge line rising above 14 Badger Canyon. The proposed wind turbines are visible for 25 miles and from 86 15 percent of the area within five miles of the ridgelines, and 81 percent within ten miles. 16 Fourth, more than 300,000 people live in this viewshed, orders of magnitude more than 17 are subject to view and esthetic impacts from any other wind or other renewable project 18 in Washington. <u>Fifth</u>, the landscape impacted, the Horse Heaven Hills, are iconic 19 features in the community. Though the valley below is densely populated, the Horse 20 Heaven Hills are substantially devoid of development of any kind, including the large 21 homes frequently built to take advantage of the views available. The feature is a 22 testament to Benton County's plan and zoning regulations, which require conservation 23 of these "visually prominent vegetated steep slopes and elevated ridges that define the 24 Columbia basin landscape."

7.2.2 The Broad Benefits of Visual and Esthetic Resources. Visual impact assessment has long since matured from a simple proposition that beauty is in the eye of the beholder. Scenic vistas and their preservation are now firmly established as

providing real and measurable impacts to communities. Dean Apostol, TCC's visual
expert, has more than forty years experience in assessing visual impacts and has even
written a book on the visual impacts of renewable energy projects, <u>The Renewable</u>
<u>Energy Landscape</u> (Routledge Press, 2016). See his resume at EXH-5101_T. Mr.
Apostol has experience before this Council, having testified in the *Whistling Ridge*proceeding, where his testimony informed the decision to remove 15 of the most
prominent turbines from the proposal.

In his written testimony, EXH-5102_T, Mr. Apostol references growing scientific
consensus that scenic views, and their preservation, provide real human benefits,
including a sense of identity, spirituality and calming, the stimulation of imagination, a
sense of place and psychological health. See pages 3-4. These are the "socio"
elements of the obligation to consider "socioeconomic impacts. Mr. Apostol confirmed
these beneficial impacts of visual resources in response to Councilmember Young's
question at Tr. 1417:22 to 1420:6. Some of the benefits are more tangible, supporting
economic development and tourism and the enhancing of property values. Page 5.

In preparation for his testimony, Mr. Apostol reviewed the visual impact reports prepared for the proposal (EXH-5102_T, pages 2-3) and conducted a site visit. Regrettably, he found that SCE's reports were not consistent with long-established standards for visual impact assessment, listing six primary deficiencies on pages 4-5 of his testimony.

<u>7.2.3 Legal Standard for Consideration of Visual and Esthetic Values in</u> <u>EFSEC Proceedings.</u> The criteria in the EFSEC statute regarding esthetic impacts are critical to the Council's analysis.

RCW 80.50.010 directs the content of Council decisions: "Such action <u>will</u> be based on these premises;" then setting forth six specific premises as the basis for action. (Emphasis supplied). The second of these is:

(2) To preserve and protect the quality of the environment; to enhance the

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 20

public's opportunity to enjoy the esthetic and recreational benefits of the air, water and land resources; to promote air cleanliness; to pursue beneficial changes in the environment; and to promote environmental justice for overburdened communities.

(Emphasis supplied.) The highlighted clause has been a part of the legislative direction to the Council since the EFSEC's creation in 1970. See 1970 ex.s. c 45 § 1.²⁹ The dictionary definition of the verb "enhance" is to "intensify, increase or further improve the quality, value or extent of." See Oxford Languages Dictionary.

The legislature is clear that the provisions of Section 2 are mandatory by the inclusion of the mandatory verb "will," not "may" or "should." Further, the action-forcing provisions of Section 2 contain different Council obligations. The Council is "to <u>preserve</u> and <u>protect</u>" "the quality of the environment;" the Council is "<u>to promote</u> air cleanliness" and "environmental justice;" the Council is "to <u>pursue</u> beneficial changes in the environment." But the Council must "<u>enhance</u> the public's opportunity to enjoy the esthetic and recreational benefits of the air, water and land resources." Indeed, this is the only place the verb "enhance" is found in RCW 80.50.010, which otherwise applies verbs such as "avoid," "assure," "encourage," "promote" and "pursue." RCW 80.50.010 was extensively amended in the 2022 Legislative Session, including additions to the "premises" section, but the phrase containing the obligation to "enhance" the "esthetic" benefit of the "land resources" was not changed. Law 2022, chapter 183, Paragraph 1.³⁰

Our courts have fully recognized the difference in the verbs "protect" and "enhance" in review of environmental legislation. In *Swinomish Tribal Cmty. v Hearings Bd.*, 161 Wn 2d 415 (2007), the court dealt with an interpretation of the Growth Management Act, Chapter 36.70A (GMA) by the Growth Management Hearings Board

 $^{^{29}}$ The 1970 legislation created the "Thermal power plant site evaluation council." See Section 3 of 1970 ex.s. c 45 § 1.]

³⁰ The last clause in RCW 80.50.010(2), to "promote environmental justice for overburdened communities" was added during the 2022 Session.

(Growth Board). As stated by the Court: "At the core of the Board's decision was its
 interpretation of the word "protect," as it appears in RCW 36.70A.172(1)." 161 Wn.2d at
 427. Appellant Swinomish Tribal Community claimed that: "where an area is already in
 a degraded condition, it is not protected unless that condition is improved or enhanced."
 Id. But, the Court found that: "The legislature has also recognized that "protect" has a
 different meaning than "enhance." *Id.* at 429. The Court concluded that:

As the foregoing illustrates, the legislature has not imposed a duty on local governments to enhance critical areas, although it does permit it. Without firm instruction from the legislature to require enhancement of critical areas, we will not impose such a duty.

Id. at 429-30.

7

8

9

10

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

The decision of the Court in *Swinomish*, and the distinction between "preserve" and "enhance" was also reviewed and affirmed in *Whatcom Cnty., Corp. v Hirst,* 186 Wash 2d 648 (2016). There the Court considered the argument that GMA requires counties to "enhance" water quality based on a "general declaration of fundamentals" included in GMA's planning goals. 186 Wn.2d at 689. The Court concluded that: "Nothing in this plain language suggests that GMA goals impose substantive requirements on local government." *Id.* The court rejected the argument and affirmed its

18 decision in *Swinomish*:

There, we considered the Swinomish Tribe's argument that the requirement to "protect" critical areas under the GMA requires measures to "enhance" because "where an area is already in a degraded condition, it is not being protected unless that condition is improved or enhanced." Id. at 427, 166 P.3d 1198.Further In rejecting that argument, we recognized that the term "protect" may encompass an option of enhancement but that the term itself does not require enhancement. Id. at 429, 166 P.3d 1198. We also considered the legislature's deliberate use of the terms "protect" and "enhance" throughout the GMA, finding that "[i]n several sections of the GMA, the legislature *allows* enhancement of natural conditions under the GMA without *requiring* enhancement." Id. We have acknowledged that RCW 36.70A.020 lists the enhancement of water quality as a goal of the GMA, see id. but have never held that local governments are bound by these goals in addition to the enumerated requirements of the Act. See *Quadrant Corp.*,154 Wash.2d at 246, 110 P.3d 1132. We adhere to that holding here—the GMA does

not require counties to "enhance" water quality.

186 Wn.2d at 689-90 (emphasis in original).

In contrast, RCW 80.50.010(2) makes a clear distinction between "protect" and "enhance" in its first two clauses. The "quality of the environment" must be "preserved and protected" but does not require "enhancement." However when it comes to "the public's opportunity to enjoy the esthetic and recreational benefits of the air, water and land resources," the Legislature has proved its "firm instruction . . . to require enhancement" by use of the verb "enhance." Indeed, the Legislature has made the duty to "enhance" esthetic benefits a "premise" for Council action, not a mere goal or exhortation.³¹ The Applicant bears the burden of proof that its proposal "enhances" the public's opportunity to enjoy esthetic benefits found in the Horse Heaven Hills. In its recommendation, and the Governor in his final decision, there must be clear documentation that the Applicant's project meets the enhancement criteria.

A review of the proposal's dramatic despoliation of the public's opportunity to enjoy the esthetic benefits of views of the Horse Heaven Hills indicates the project fails to demonstrate compliance with RCW 80.50.010(2). As such the proposal as currently configured must be denied.

7.2.4. Analysis of esthetic and visual benefits. As indicated in the statute, the inquiry starts with an assessment of the "public's opportunity" to enjoy esthetics and a determination of what the public in the impacted area considers as important views.³² EXH-5102_T at page 10. As Mr. Apostol described in his testimony, any visual assessment must begin with this same consultation and interaction with the community.

³¹ Much as the word "premise" is not defined in RCW chapter 80.50, as "protect" was not in the GMA, *Swinomish* provides that: "We accord the word its common meaning and, where necessary, consult a dictionary." 161 Wn.2d at 428. The Merriam-Webster Dictionary defines a "premise" as "something assumed or taken for granted."

³² The Oxford Dictionary states that there is no difference in meaning between "aesthetic" and "esthetic," though the former spelling is more common to Europe and the Commonwealth.

However, Mr. Apostol's review of the applicant's materials revealed no such effort. He 2 notes that the Applicant selected 13 "key observation points" for viewing the completed 3 project, but finds no reasons for picking those points and no documented 4 communication with the public as to whether they would consider the selected "observation points" as "key" to the community. *Id*, at 11-12. The Applicant's proffered 6 witness on visual impacts, who did not prepare the section of the ASC on esthetics, 7 testified that other than look at written comments, no public outreach effort was 8 undertaken. Tr. 1360:13-17. Nor did she testify how the KOPs were chosen.

The Applicant didn't know, and didn't care, what the public thought.

10 With substantially all local governments, business and community organizations 11 opposed to the project (see below), Scout didn't want to acknowledge the deep public 12 resistance to the desecration of the esthetic benefits of the Horse Heaven Hills by its 13 231 wind turbines "skylined" on them.

14 Moreover the "public" impacted by this proposed wind turbines project was not 15 just a few nearby farm houses and residences, as in the Desert Claim and Kittitas Valley 16 projects, but thousands of residents of the Tri-Cities community, one of the fastest 17 growing metropolitan areas in Washington. EXH-5102_T at 19. Because the Applicant 18 has chosen not to group or consolidate its wind turbines, but to stretch them out in 19 linear fashion, creating continuous rows of over 25 miles, the project has become an 20 esthetic impact to more than 100,000 residents and businesses in the Tri-Cities who live 21 within six miles of the north boundary of the project. EXH-5305_R_RECON at page 2. 22 As shown on the charts in Mr. Krupin's exhibit, the population impacted by the 23 Applicant's project visually impacts, by orders of magnitude, more people than any 24 other wind project in the state. Id. at 2-8.

The topography of the Horse Heaven Hills, with an elevated ridgeline, means that these continuous rows would appear as a tall fence line, fully visible out to ten miles or more. Id. at 13. The truth is that the Applicant could not have created a greater

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 24

1

5

9

25

26

27

esthetic degradation if they tried.

1

2 Though the Applicant carefully and deliberately avoided any kind of public involvement on how to configure its wind turbines plan,³³ the UASC admits that the 3 community, through its local government, has identified the importance of the Horse 4 5 Heaven Hills as a visual and esthetic resource. As page 4-59 of the UASC 6 acknowledges: 7 Scenic views designated in land use plans adopted by federal, state, or local government entities typically formalize a widely recognized visual value of a 8 resource and the public's desire to protect that value (e.g., a designated wilderness or scenic area). Where such official designations exist, the public 9 expectation may be that the view at the location or of the identified resource will be preserved, and the viewer concern is considered high. 10 11 (Emphasis supplied.) The UASC further identifies that Benton County, in its 2020 12 Comprehensive Plan (enacted before the original application with this Council) adopted 13 provisions to protect the Horse Heaven Hills and ridge lines impacted by this proposal, 14 including the following: 15 • PL Goal 3: Conserve visually prominent naturally vegetated steep slopes and elevated ridges that define the Columbia Basin landscape and are uniquely a 16 product of the ice age floods. 17 • Policy 5: Consider the preservation of the ridges and hillside areas through 18 various development regulations. 19 This designation by Benton County "formalizes a widely cognized visual value" of the 20 esthetic benefits of the Horse Heaven Hills. As discussed below, the proposal placing 21 25 miles of rows and rows of wind turbines along "visually prominent" slopes is a slap in 22 the face to the public opportunity to enjoy these esthetic resources. 23 The record further indicates that Benton County has followed through on its 24 Comprehensive Plan goals to "preserve the ridges and hillside areas through various 25 26 ³³ Mr. Apostol pointed out that there was little to no public outreach to the community by the 27 Applicant regarding the visual impacts to the community. Tr. 1427:2-21.

development regulations." The County has zoned these areas for agriculture and does 1 2 not allow residential subdivisions. Have the County planning and zoning efforts kept the 3 Horse Heaven Hills devoid of visual and esthetic impairments? The answer is yes. 4 Even the Applicant's proffered visual and esthetic expert had to agree, based on the 5 photograph in the visual impact assessment, that none of the development that often trashes the visual and esthetic benefit is found on the Horse Heaven Hills.³⁴ She testified that the Horse Heaven Hills do not have a single place where a residence or farmhouse can be seen, based on the Applicant's own photographs. Tr. 1340-1342. Except for the Nine Canyon project at the east end, the entire sweep of the 25-mile project area has no significant visual impairments, despite the large urban communities located in the valley on both sides of the Yakima and Columbia Rivers.

Not only has Benton County made visual and esthetic preservation of the Horse Heaven Hills a priority, they are joined by substantially all community organizations, with varied recreational, residential and commercial interests. See a list of some such entities at pages 36-37. The UASC's admission that "viewer concern is considered high" is a tongue-in-cheek understatement.

What will be the impact of the 25-mile wind turbines project on these resources? Though Applicant's 13 "key observation points" were not selected with any documented criteria, the selected KOPs do document that the project does <u>not</u> "protect" these views, much less "enhance" them. Rather, the project desecrates the "public's opportunity to enjoy the "esthetic benefit" of the unique land forms of the Horse Heaven Hills.

The Council need go no farther than Appendix 3.10-2 of the DEIS, SWCA's 2022 Final Visual Impact Assessment (FVIA) for the analysis of these impacts. On Table 4, at pages 17-21, assesses "Key Observation Point/Viewpoint Impact Table Turbine Option

³⁴ Mr. Krupin's testimony, supported by photographs, confirms that "a great deal of the Horse Heaven Hills is untouched." EXH-5302_T_RECON at 33-34.

1" which described the 244 wind turbine option that is considered "ideal" by the Applicant's project manager Dave Kobus. For the Council's ready reference, Table 4 is reproduced as Appendix B to this brief.

While detailed review is necessary here, Table 4 of the FVIA provides a summary 4 5 of esthetic impacts from the viewpoints selected by the Applicant. Of significance, each 6 of the KOPs with "residential" or "recreational" viewers were rated on the "Level of Visual Contrast" as "Strong" and for the Magnitude of Impact as "High,"³⁵ both the 7 maximum levels of impact. See KOPs 2, 3, 5, 8, 10, 11, 13.³⁶ The same "High" impact 8 9 is identified for the "Dispersed Residences" near the site and the Horse Heaven Hills 10 Recreation Area. FVIA at 21. Certain areas of Benton City would also have Strong 11 visual contrast levels of magnitude if the view point was moved just a short distance. 12 See KOP 9 at FVIA page 9.

13 Repeated descriptions of impacts from residential or recreational viewpoints
14 demonstrate why the "magnitude of impact" is rated "High:"

 The proposed turbines would <u>dominate views</u> from this location, approximately 5 miles away, as a large portion of the viewshed would <u>include moving wind</u> <u>turbines</u>.

• The series of proposed skylined wind be <u>highly prominent</u> in the view, resulting in <u>high</u>, <u>long-term impacts on views</u> particularly where views of multiple wind turbines <u>would overlap and appear larger in mass</u>.

• Views of the Project in open, rolling hills would be <u>unobstructed</u>.

KOP tables, FVIA pp. 17-21 (emphasis supplied). These impacts occur even though the KOPs in question are substantial distances from the proposed wind turbines:

LAW OFFICES OF J. RicHARD ARAMBURU, PLLC 705 2ND AVE., SUITE 1300 SEATTLE 98104 Telephone (206) 625-9515 FAX (206) 682-1376 aramburulaw.com

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 27

1

2

3

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

³⁵ "High" in reference to impacts to "Landscape character" is defined in the FVIA (page 12) as follows:

Landscape character: landscape would appear to be strongly altered and Project components would dominate an intact visual setting. Project components would introduce form, line, color, texture, scale, and/or movement not common in the landscape and would be visually dominant in the landscape (strong contrast).

³⁶ In contrast, the FVIA rates visual impacts of the major solar arrays as "negligible." FVIA at 26-28.

1	 Residential KOP 2 High Impacts: 3 miles
2	 Recreation KOP 3 High Impacts: 2.5 miles
3	 Recreation KOP 5 High Impacts: 4.7 miles
4	 Residential KOP 8 High Impacts: 3.6 miles
5	 Residential KOP 11 High Impacts: 2.0 miles
6	ld.
7	The "Combined Impacts" reference at page 30 of the FVIA confirms that the wind
8	turbines would annihilate the "public's opportunity to enjoy the esthetic and recreational
9	benefits of the land," not enhance it. The FVIA says: "the combined impacts of the
10	different Project components would result in a landscape character dominated by
11	large-scale energy infrastructure, including wind turbines," FVIA at 30.37 (Emphasis
12	supplied) .This section of the FVIA continues:
13 14	The existing setting does include a smaller wind farm and two existing transmission lines, but the scale of the Project and prominence of the proposed turbines would result in <u>high, long-term impacts to the existing landscape.</u>
15	Id. (emphasis supplied). Moreover:
16	Since these impacts occur on viewpoints beyond the neighboring receptors,
17	these effects would be regional in extent. In summary, activities during operation of all components of the Project would result in high, long-term, unavoidable,
18	regional impacts on visual resources.
19	Id. (emphasis supplied).
20	Given the conclusions of "high," "long term," "regional impacts" of visual
21	resources, what steps has the applicant taken to avoid these impacts? The answer is
22	essentially nothing. The UASC section on aesthetic impacts uses the same 13 KOPs
23	that SWCA did in the FVIA (see pages 4-67 to 4-75), essentially affirming the findings of
24	
25	³⁷ The Applicant frequently refers to the existing, but older Nine Canyon project as have existing visual impacts. The EVIA notes the Nine Canyon turbines as "similar in appearance" but states that the

visual impacts. The FVIA notes the Nine Canyon turbines as "similar in appearance" but states that the HH project's "proposed turbines would be larger and out of scale with the existing landscape." FVIA at 17, referencing KOP #1. This is visually depicted in the comparison of "Existing Conditions" with "Project Simulation Option 1" for KOP #1 found at PDF page 57 of the FVIA.

26

27

the FVIA of substantial impacts to viewers at page 4-90. On the last page of the visual analysis (pages 4-96 to 4-97), it provides Section 4.2.3.4 entitled "Mitigation Measures," which lists measures that would be incorporated "into the Project's design to reduce the Project's potential for aesthetic impacts." These "measures" include keeping dust down, providing a "clean-looking facility free of debris," providing turbines that "will be uniform in design" and keeping "security lighting off when not required." *Id.* at page 4-96.³⁸ But there is no mention of removing or relocating any wind turbines to respond to the findings of FVIA that the project will result in "high, long-term, unavoidable, regional impacts on visual resources." In short, the Applicant doesn't care about esthetic impacts to the community.

The Applicant's indifferent approach to the impacts its project will have on the community is reflected in the testimony of its visual expert, Brynn Guthrie. She was asked if she "presented any proposals or worked on any proposals that would involve mitigation of visual impacts?" Tr. 1363:13-15. She responded that the applicant made these decisions, not her:

I'm aware of opportunities that the applicant is pursuing and exploring to reduce impacts, including visual, but those are decisions that are coming from the applicant.

Tr. 1363:16-19. Though presented as applicant's expert on visual and esthetic impacts, she testified she made no recommendation to avoid visual impacts nor ran any simulations "that would indicate the impact of removing these turbines." Tr. 1363:20 to 1364:4.

In the middle of the hearing, the Applicant presented the Moon Memo, which was actually written by Project Manager Dave Kobus and contained an eleventh-hour-

³⁸ During cross-examination, it was disclosed that the visual assessment material in the UASC was not written by Ms. Guthrie, but by a land use planner, Shaun Brooks, whom Ms. Guthrie admitted lacked her "credentials in visual analysis." Tr. 1356:8-23.

attempt to address impact mitigation (EXH-4014_X)³⁹: 13 turbines (in total) were 1 2 removed from the project to bring the overall count to 231. According to Mr. Kobus, the 3 turbines were removed to "reduce visual impacts to resources of concern to local 4 residents and Yakama Nation." See pages 3 and 4. However, as described above, the 5 Applicant's agreement with the Department of Defense only allowed 235 turbines to 6 begin with, so the net reduction was just four turbines. Moreover, during cross-7 examination, Ms. Guthrie admitted that she did not participate or provide opinions 8 regarding which wind turbines should be removed in the Moon Memo and that she didn't 9 know who made the decision to remove the turbines, but she "assumed that it came from the applicant."⁴⁰ Tr. 1362:7-19. Nor was the Applicant's energy consultant, Greg 10 11 Poulos, asked to "design a layout that would maximize the protection of views and visual 12 resources." Tr. 1451:3-4.

Critically, when asked whether the removal of the 13 turbines had a material impact, Ms. Guthrie said:

Q. Okay. And is it -- is it your opinion that the removal of the 13 turbines significantly avoids or mitigates the visual impact of the project? A. No.

Tr. 1363:2-5. Mr. Apostol confirmed that removal of these turbines doesn't change the visual/esthetic impact. Tr. 1409:9-1410:6.

Far from a conscious attempt at mitigation informed by the expertise of Ms. Guthrie, the removal of the 13 turbines was a superficial ploy to demonstrate attention to impacts. Even in her prepared supplemental testimony, Ms. Guthrie concedes that it is up to the developer "to make final design decisions." EXH-1065_S_REVISED at 3:23-26. The only serious effort to address mitigation came from TCC 's visual expert,Mr.

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

³⁹ Though Ms. Guthrie was supposedly the Applicant's scenic expert, she is not listed as a recipient of the Memo. See page 1.

⁴⁰ Nor was the Applicant's energy consultant, Greg Poulos, contacted about which turbines could be removed. Tr. 1449.

Apostol. He prepared EXH-5906_R, which addressed how mitigation of impacts could be approached by increasing the distance between the viewer and the turbines. This would involve removing some of the northern turbines.

The record indicates no serious effort to "protect or preserve" esthetic values, much less any effort to comply with the Legislative mandate "to enhance the public's opportunity to enjoy the esthetic and recreational benefit of the air, water and land resources." Indeed, nowhere in the UASC or the Applicant's written testimony is the statutory mandate even mentioned.⁴¹

9 The esthetic and visual impacts of the wind turbines are plainly substantial and10 adverse, the opposite of enhancement.

<u>7.2.5 Summary of visual and esthetic impacts.</u> In summary, despite the
findings that the HHWF would result in "high, long-term, unavoidable, regional impacts
on visual resources," the Applicant takes no steps to address esthetic and visual
impacts, much less to "enhance" these resources as required by RCW 80.50.010(2).
Absent compliance with the statutory mandate, the proposal as presently configured
must be denied.

7.3 Wildlife Impacts.

Testimony has been provided by witnesses from the Yakama Nation on wildlife impacts. Early prehearing orders provided that TCC and the YN should coordinate their testimony. Accordingly, YN has taken the lead in this area, though TCC continues an intense interest in the protection of at-risk and special status wildlife, especially the

17

18

19

20

21

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

⁴¹ The Legislative creation of obligation to"enhance" in RCW 80.50.010(2) is in contrast to a similar provision in the Shorelines Management Act, RCW 90.58.020 adopted in 1971, just a year after the EFSEC statute:

In the implementation of this policy the public's opportunity to enjoy the physical and <u>aesthetic</u> <u>qualities</u> of natural shorelines of the state <u>shall be preserved to the greatest extent feasible</u> <u>consistent with the overall best interest of the state and the people generally.</u>

⁽Emphasis supplied.) "Aesthetic qualities" of natural shorelines only require "preservation" and that subject to the qualifier that such preservation is only enforced "to the greatest extent feasible." consistent with other values. No such qualifiers are found in RCW 80.50.010(2) requirement to "enhance" esthetic benefits.

²⁸

beautiful Ferruginous Hawk, pronghorns and multiple bat species. All will be threatened by the massive wind turbines and solar project.

As mentioned in Section 7.1 of this brief, the proposal is unique because of its vast size, stretching more than 25 miles in rows of spinning turbines. The wind turbines themselves are a wall of moving blades the height of the Smith Tower in Seattle, spinning night and day. As with the esthetic impacts of the turbines, the Applicant offers only token mitigation - the removal of four turbines - to help project wildlife and threatened bird populations. The mitigation proposed is not even a dent, much less a hole in the long wall impacting wildlife. In its supporting letter for TCC, the Lower Columbia Basin Audubon Society recommends that "wind turbines should not be sited within a **two mile radius** of active and traditional Ferruginous Hawk nesting sites." EXH-5303_T (emphasis in original).

TCC joins with the Yakama Nation in their brief and in their objections to this project based on unmitigated impacts to wildlife.

7.4 Yakama Nation Cultural Resources.

TCC acknowledges and recognizes the substantial concern of the YN to impacts on their cultural resources and history. The visual impacts of the project, discussed above at Section 6.2, do not just include the residential, recreational and commercial interests within the Tri-Cities; the "public's opportunity to enjoy the esthetic benefits of the land" includes the Yakama Nation as much as other residents of the community. The view and vistas of the Horse Heaven Hills, largely spared until now from residential subdivisions and luxury homes, have special meaning to Native Americans. The SWCA conclusion that the project will result in "high, long-term, unavoidable, regional impacts on visual resources" impinges on tribal values as much as other residents.

TCC joins with the YN in the opposition to the project based on impacts to cultural resources.

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 32

28

1

7.5 Land Use Codes.

As described above, the Applicant has the burden to demonstrate compliance of the project with the conditional use permit criteria under the Benton County code.

Order 883 also sets out the standards that must be met for a conditional use permit at page 6, Paragraph 7:

(a) Is compatible with other uses in the surrounding area or is no more incompatible than are any other outright permitted uses in the applicable zoning district;

(b) Will not materially endanger the health, safety, and welfare of the surrounding community to an extent greater than that associated with any other permitted uses in the applicable zoning district;

With the "permitted uses" in the County code limited to agricultural and farm support facilities, along with single family residential uses, the overall project will be clearly "more incompatible" with low impact rural uses and will impact the "health, safety and welfare of the surrounding community" more than the permitted uses. See BCC 11.50.040(d).

Though the DEIS correctly identifies the conditional use standard, it states that the prior issuance of a conditional use for the Nine Canyon Wind Project meets the standard. DEIS at Appendix 3.8-1 (Final page). However the code explicitly requires a conditional use to be "no more incompatible than any other <u>outright permitted uses</u> in the applicable zoning district" (emphasis supplied). The Nine Canyon project cannot be used to demonstrate compatibility because it is not an "outright permitted use," but another conditional use like the HHWF.

In this regard, SCE has not demonstrated that its conditional use proposal (231 large turbines, stretching out along 25 miles of the Horse Heaven Hills, with acres of solar arrays and large lithium-ion batteries) is no more impactful than the agricultural uses permitted outright. Indeed, these farmlands were given special significance by RCW 36.70A.177, which requires local governments to pursue "innovative zoning

techniques" designed to *conserve* agricultural lands and "encourage the agricultural economy." Indeed, the solar arrays and BESS proposals alone are clearly far beyond the health, safety and welfare impacts of simple farms and agricultural support facilities.
The conditional use criteria are not met.

The FVIA addresses the Benton County Comprehensive Plan planning goals at page 31. While it concluded the proposal might "technically comply" with the planning goals," the FVIA concedes:

The Horse Heaven Hills and northern ridgeline would, however, become dominated by energy infrastructure, with potential long duration views from areas within the communities between Benton City and Kennewick. These impacts on views would be most intense where unobstructed views of a large number of turbines occur.

ld.

As described above, application of Comprehensive Plan and zoning policies has resulted in the preservation of largely natural scenic vistas, free of the hodgepodge of residential subdivisions and estate-style houses that dominate such ridges in other communities. The proposal stands these efforts on their head, undoing the efforts to preserve and enhance the area's natural setting and esthetic resources. The impacts and risks provide additional weight to the balancing test that tips against approval of the project.

TCC joins with Benton County in their objections to the project. The project as presently configured must be denied.

7.6 Fire Fighting.

The evidence describes wildfire frequency near the project in this near desert landscape. These fires, in relation to the proposed turbines, are documented on EXH-5307_R, with western fire history on pages 2 and 4 and eastern history on pages 3 and 5. The perimeters of these fires are shown on pages 6-10.

Kahyrn Campbell, who owns the Analare Winery and resides on the McGee grade just south of Benton City, testified about a large fire that "came roaring over the

top of McGee grade" toward her house, which occurred even while this adjudication was underway (June 13, 2023). EXH-5800_R. She was on her property during the fire and described the fire suppression effort:

"The heat and wind were so strong that the fire team had to evacuate and all that could save us were helicopters and planes dropping water and retardant above."

Id. at 2. Her photographs of the fire (and its aftermath) document the event and show large tanker aircraft deploying suppressants. See EXH- 5801_R.

Ms. Campbell's testimony was collaborated by Lonnie Click, the fire chief of Benton County Fire District #1, with jurisdiction over fire activity on the project site. EXH-5631_R. He describes the "significant amount of wildfire on an annual basis" and the use of aerial resources to effectively fight these fires. *Id.* at 2. He pointed out that "ridgelines are one of the best locations for fire containment lines" but that "with installation of wind turbines ... it may make it difficult to create the optimal wildfire containment line." *Id.* at 2. He also provides photographs of aircraft working the June 23, 2023 fire, emphasizing that: "Obstacles create safety hazards for pilots and they may not be able to fly close enough to be effective." His supplemental testimony, responding to Chair Drew's questions, stated: "Aerial firefighting resources have proven to be the most effective method for fighting the fires and preventing damage to properties in the valley below." EXH- 5912_S at 2.⁴²

To be effective in controlling wildfires, these aerial resources must be near the ground or else the drop of retardants will be ineffective. With 500-foot-tall obstructions, firefighting aircraft cannot effectively operate near or above wind turbines. This limitation might be of less importance if the wind turbines were grouped so aircraft could fly around them or the lines of turbines were pushed well back (south) from the

⁴² The testimony of Linda Lehman, the Mayor of Benton City (EXH-5822) also provides photographs of the June 23, 2023 fire and the use of aerial resources. See particularly page 6-9 and the City's recommendations that to: "at a minimum, move Wind Turbines back from ridgelines so that pilots do not face additional risks of working around Wind Turbines." Id. at 10.

ridgelines. But the current proposal would install 25 miles of turbines in several rows a mile or so apart, creating a "no fly zone" in the area where wildfires occur year after year.

The confirmed impacts on aerial firefighting and pilot safety posed by the project, especially along the ridgeline, are additional significant negative impacts of the proposal.

7.7 Tourism and Local Economic Development.

WAC 463-60-535 requires "detailed socioeconomic impact analysis" of a project, which identifies "negative impacts" as well as positive ones. "Particular attention" must be given to the impact on "property values" and "the local economy." Where "a project will have a primary or secondary negative impact on any element of the socioeconomic environment," the applicant is "encouraged to work with local governments to avoid, minimize or compensate for the negative impact." *Id.,* Subsection 6. These governments include cities, counties, fire districts, or other special purpose districts. *Id.*

With or without TCC's urging, substantially all local governments, joined by community civic, economic and special purpose districts oppose the project, including the following.

- Benton County
- Franklin County (DEIS Comment #2427 dated January 31, 2023.)⁴³
- City of Kennewick (Public Comment #374 dated April 7, 2021)⁴⁴
- City of Benton City (see EXH-5822)
- City of Richland (Resolution 2023-76 "the interests of the Richland City

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 36

1

⁴³ The first paragraph of Franklin County's letter described the "strong opposition in our community, approximately 90%" and "the significant harm this project poses to our regional economy and the damage it would bring to our beautiful vistas."

⁴⁴ Kennewick's letter notes "it is home to 85,000 residents" and states: "Our community cares about preserving the ridges and skylines that we enjoy, which support our tourism industry."

1	Council and Tri-Cities C.A.R.E.S are aligned regarding the proposed
2	Horse Heaven Wind Farm Project)
3	 City of West Richland (DEIS Comment 644: "on behalf of the residents of
4	West Richland, the Mayor and City Council would like to voice our
5	opposition to the Scout Clean Energy's Horse Heaven Wind Project.")
6	 Tri-Cities Association of Realtors (1200 members "in strict opposition to
7	Scout Clean Energy's intent to compromise and exploit our homes and
8	local resources.")
9	• Visit Tri-Cities ("official destination marketing organization for the Tri-Cities")
10	• The Port of Pasco, Resolution No. 1550 (March 25, 2021), Public Comment
11	#274 ⁴⁵
12	• Tri-Cities Economic Development Council (Tri-Dec) ⁴⁶
13	 Pasco Chamber of Commerce, Public Comment #318 (March 29, 2021)⁴⁷
14	 Tri-Cities Regional Chamber of Commerce (representing 900 businesses in
15	Benton and Franklin Counties)
16	EXH-5303-T (except as noted). These comments are these essence of socioeconomic
17	impacts, as "relating to, or involving a combination of social and economic factors" as
18	defined by Merriam Webster Dictionary.
19	No renewable energy project in the state, whether before EFSEC or a local
20	permitting agency, has generated this degree of opposition. As indicated by their
21	statements, much of this opposition relates to the overwhelming size of the project and
22	
23	⁴⁵ The Port of Pasco letter states: " the wide open spaces and largely unobstructed ridgelines are iconic features of the Tri-Cities ice-age flood formed landscape;"
24	⁴⁶ Tri-Dec Executive Director Karl Dye testified during the hearing of Tri-Dec's support of possible
25	leases of the Hanford site for solar or other renewable energy facilities. Tr. 815:5-17.
26	⁴⁷ The letter from the Pasco Chamber says: "Horse Heaven Hills Wind Project could drastically discuss the unique and econic violate in the Tri Citize area thereby degrading the guality of life and
27	disrupt the unique and scenic vistas in the Tri-Cities area thereby degrading the quality of life and tourism and economic development opportunities in our region"
28	LAW OFFICES OF J. Richard Aramburu, pllc 705 2 ND AVE., SUITE 1300 SEATTLE 98104

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 37

I

its visual and esthetic impacts. Many of these interested members of the public explain 2 how the project impacts residential and commercial activity in the community, especially 3 the "local economy." These community leaders and local governments know their 4 communities best and are in a unique position to express and document the community 5 opposition to this project.

6 TCC's evidence on impacts in the community indicated how the adverse visual impacts result in negative impacts to the "local economy" and tourism, factors that require consideration under WAC 463-60-535(3)(c), which requires analysis of "overall economic impacts and costs of the project on the economies of the county, the study area and the state."

Another serious and deliberate deficiency is the failure of the Applicant to comply with WAC 463-60-535(6). That section provides that where a project has "a primary or secondary negative impact on any element of the socioeconomic environment" the Applicant should "work with local governments to avoid, minimize or compensate for the negative impact." Moreover, WAC 463-60-085(1) requires the Applicant to "summarize the impacts to each element of the natural or built environment and the means to be utilized to minimize or mitigate possible adverse impacts during construction, operation, and decommissioning of the proposal." Despite this clear direction, Applicant has provided no proof of efforts to "avoid or minimize impacts" or to "minimize or mitigate possible adverse impacts."

Related to mitigation of the overwhelming visual and esthetic impacts of the project, the UASC at pages 1-12 and 1-13 mentions only surficial items such as "providing a clean-looking facility" and keeping "security lights off when not required." Id. Also as mentioned above, WAC 463-60-296 requires an: "analysis of alternatives for site, route and other major elements of the proposal." There is no discussion of relocation or removal of wind turbines to avoid, mitigate, or minimize the socioeconomic impacts of the project. As noted on pages 2-118 to 2-120 of the UASC, there is no

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 38

consideration of any project alternatives, including a smaller or reconfigured site plan. Indeed, the FVIA concedes:

Due to the siting and operating requirements for wind turbines, there are limited mitigation measures that would considerably reduce impacts on visual resources, beyond downsizing the Project to reduce the number of turbines in view.

FVIA at 32.

The evidence shows the transformation of the lower Yakima Valley over recent years to a focus on wine grape production and wineries. Accompanying these agricultural pursuits has been an exploding tourism industry, with its foundation in the unique sights of natural features of the community, including the Horse Heaven Hills. There are more than a dozen wine tasting rooms, most with outdoor facilities, that would be viewing the dozens of towers in their field of view. *See* City of Kennewick Public Comment #374.

The experts in the economic vitality of the Tri-Cities areas – tourism organizations, chambers of commerce, economic development councils, port districts and real estate groups – recognize the adverse economic consequences and unanimously oppose the project. In turn, these impacts heavily weigh against approval of the project.

7.8. Housing and Property Values.

TCC has asked highly qualified experts to address whether the wind turbine project will impact property values in the community, especially for residents north of the project in rural and urban areas.

Kurt Kielisch, president of the Forensic Appraisal Group, has 39 years of appraisal experience and has completed more than 8,435 valuations, is a certified appraiser in several states and is a member of the American Society of Appraisers. EXH-5811_R is a comprehensive report prepared by Mr. Kielisch that not only included a comprehensive review of impact studies (pages 40-165) but also an assessment of a specific wind turbine project in Logan County, Colorado comprised of 89 GE 2.8 MW
wind turbines with an overall height of about 500 feet (a similar turbine to those
proposed for the HHWF: UASC at 2-17.) An important additional finding of Mr.
Kielisch's work is that the wind turbines assessed in the prior studies of wind turbine
impacts used were of the older, smaller rotor diameter and shorter turbines than the
model proposed for the Heaven Hills project. EXH-5812_R at page 167.

Mr. Kielisch summarizes the wind farm studies as having a negative impact to
value of 15 to 35% for turbines more than one mile from the subject property, carefully
noting the turbines studied were smaller than the project under consideration. *Id.* at
166-170.

The visual and esthetic impacts of the wind turbines informs and confirms this
analysis of property values. Unlike other valuation studies, here there is a visual impact
report prepared by EFSEC consultants assessing impacts to residential properties.
Those studies include "Viewer Sensitivity" analysis which rates the proposal "High" for
Residential "Viewer Type" i.e. those who live within the visual study area. DEIS
Appendix 3.10-2 (the FVIA) at 8-10. To be rated "High" the landscape "would be
strongly altered" and the project "would dominate an intact visual setting." *Id.* at 12. In
the actual assessment, the impact is rated "High" due to the fact there will be "high, long
term impacts on views." *Id.*

The evidence is clear that the despoliation of the scenic vistas of the Horse Heaven Hills will create distinct impacts on property values of dozens of residential communities within the viewshed of the project.⁴⁸ These are essentially permanent impacts to the area.⁴⁹ Even the UASC at 4-60 confirms: "It is assumed, however, that

⁴⁸ The UASC admits project wind turbines are potentially visible from about 86% of the area with five miles of the project and 81% within 10 miles. UASC at 4-45.

⁴⁹ Outside of individual home owners, the Tri-Cities Association of Realtors, with 1200 members, who advocates for "property rights for all homeowners," supports TCC: "for your time and effort

local residents are generally familiar with the local landscape and may be more sensitive to changes in views that are important to them." UASC at 4-60.

The Applicant response to testimony that property values would be impacted was Morgan Shook. On cross-examination it was revealed that Mr. Shook was not an appraiser (Tr. 450:12-17) and did not conduct an appraisal of any properties in the area impacted by the wind turbines (Tr. 450:18-23), was not aware of the details of the project or the number of turbines (Tr. 453:9-18), or how many miles of turbines were proposed or the size of the project (Tr. 453:16-18). He has done no on-site research as to preferences of local residents (Tr. 458:18-25) nor did he reach out to the Benton County Assessor to solicit his opinions (Tr. 489:8-14). Though he was defending Section 4.4 of the ASC, he wrote none of it (Tr. 475:21-24) and did not consult any local interest groups regarding property values (Tr. 461:8-11). Mr. Shook's analysis, lacking any attempt at valuation of individual properties, does not provide useful information to the Council.

The evidence plainly supports the conclusion that the high, long-term visual and esthetic impacts to sensitive viewers such as local residents cause depreciation of residential property values from this proposal. This impact is not to just a few nearby homes, but to most residences impacted by the 25 miles of row after row of wind turbines. The impact to property values is both substantial and negative.

7.9 Recreation.

WAC 463-60-535(4) requires a description of the "impacts and relationships cause by the project on "(d) Parks or other recreational facilities." This includes "plans for . . .mitigating impacts. . . "

The location of wind turbines on prominent ridgelines impacts the use of longestablished, and highly used, recreational resources. These recreational uses include

combating this egregious attack on our local homes." EX-5303_T.

1

hiking, paragliding, birding and sightseeing along substantial natural features that are not found in other parts of Benton County or adjacent areas. Each of these uses will be restricted and negatively impacted by the Project. See EXH-5822, pages 5-6.

The discussion above regarding the council obligations of RCW 80.50.010(2)
applies here. The statute requires Council decisions: "to enhance the public's
opportunity to enjoy the esthetic <u>and recreational benefits</u> of the air, water and land
resources; . . ." As with esthetic benefits, "recreational benefits" are not to be just
"preserved," "protected," "promoted," "encouraged" or "pursued," but "<u>enhanced</u>." The
special call-out of recreational benefits must be implemented in Council decision
making.

The Applicant's visual analysis addressed impacts on recreational users at UASC 4-60, noting that: "for some of these viewers, scenery is a very important part of their recreational experience, and recreational users may have continuous views to landscape features over relatively long periods of time." UASC at 4-60. The analysis concluded that "recreators are generally assumed to have relatively high sensitivity to scenic quality and landscape character." *Id.*

The FVIA analysis is stronger. At page 21, it addresses views to the Horse
Heaven Hills Recreation Area, concluding that views along the ridgeline trail "would be
strongly altered by the Project" and that the proposed wind turbines "would be highly
prominent in the view resulting in high, long term impacts from Chandler Butte, below
the ridgeline trail, and from the ridgeline trail." *Id.*

These dramatic impacts were verified by the DEIS in its "Summary of Impacts on Recreation during Operation of the Proposed Action" at page 4-449. In assessing (Recreational Use" the DEIS states:

Operation of the comprehensive Project would result in a <u>high impact</u> due to the restriction of access to public land and recreational activities that occur on public land near the Project. The impact would be <u>long term for the duration of the life of the Project</u>, <u>unavoidable</u>, and local.

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 42

1

2

Id. Table 4.12-6b (emphasis supplied).

Recreational impacts were also discussed by TCC witness Dave Sharp. In his prepared testimony (EXH-5402_T_RECON), Mr. Sharp identified turbines located near or on existing trails on Kiona Ridge, regularly used by hikers. See pages 39-40. An aerial photograph at page 42 shows the close proximity of these trails to proposed turbines.⁵⁰

As discussed above regarding esthetic resources, the Council is tasked by RCW 80.50.010(2) to "enhance the public's opportunity to enjoy . . . the recreational benefits of the air, water and land resources; . . ." The overwhelming evidence in this proceeding is that recreational uses near the project will suffer higher, longer degradation due to the restriction of access and visual impacts due to whirring wind turbines. These recreational opportunities, and scenic vistas, are not found elsewhere in Benton County.

The Applicant has not met its burden of proof. Without question, the proposal <u>diminishes</u> the public's opportunity to enjoy the recreational benefits of the Horse Heaven Hills when it is required to <u>enhance</u> such benefits. The proposal cannot be approved.

7.10 Conclusion on Balancing.

This Council is mandated to conduct a balancing analysis to determine whether the project will create a "net benefit" to the public. On the positive side of the analysis is a wind/solar/BESS project that claims 1150 MW of production capacity, but can only transfer 850 MW to an eventual customer because of BPA's "grid injection capacity." Though the solar component provides relatively dependable generation, the large wind

⁵⁰ Mr. Sharp also identified concerns to recreationalists from "ice throw" which occurs with the buildup of ice on turbine blades during cold weather. EXH-5402_T_RECON at 39-40. The issue is not academic: Mr. Sharp includes a photograph of a sign ("CAUTION FALLING ICE") from the existing Nine Canyon wind project, which would be surrounded by the proposal. *Id.* at 43.

component only operates when wind is blowing and the site has only a modest wind capability.

On the negative side of the balancing analysis, TCC has listed multiple factors that weigh against the proposal. These include wildlife and bird impacts, inconsistency with Benton County land use codes, detrimental impacts to tourism and local economic development, reduction of housing value, serious limitations to aerial firefighting, public safety and impacts on YN cultural resources.

Adverse impacts on two other elements of the balancing test, esthetic and recreational resources, statutorily require "enhancement," not mere preservation of the status quo. The record demonstrates high, long term, regional adverse impacts to both elements, the opposite of enhancement.

Given the numerous and significant adverse and negative impacts and limited benefit, the proposal does not achieve a "net benefit" and accordingly must be denied.

VIII. FAILURE TO CONSIDER ALTERNATIVES AND MITIGATION MEASURES TO AVOID ADVERSE IMPACTS.

A major roadblock to completing the balancing analysis is the patent and obdurate refusal of the Applicant to consider any alternatives to its admittedly overbuilt and bloated project. This Applicant wants the largest possible project. Nothing less than the whole project is considered, in blatant violation of obligations in EFSEC's own regulations that an application: "shall include an analysis of alternatives for site, route and other major elements of the project." WAC 463-60-296. The concept of analysis of alternatives is reinforced in WAC 463-60-085, which requires documentation of "mitigation measures," including:

the means to be utilized to minimize or mitigate possible adverse impacts during construction, operation, and decommissioning of the proposal, all associated facilities, and <u>any alternatives being brought forward.</u>

(Emphasis supplied.)

Notwithstanding these clear and established requirements, the Applicant's

project manager Mr. Kobus testified that he did not include in the UASC "an alternate site layout with further turbines." Kobus Dep 94:16-20. He claims that he was told by EFSEC staff (Sonia Bumpus)⁵¹ that "no smaller" or modified project options should be considered in SCE's application. See Kobus Dep. at pages 94-97. The Council should firmly reject this erroneous interpretation of the Council's obligations.

The failure to consider alternatives for a more modest project, responsive to its detrimental impacts, also violates the State Environmental Policy Act, RCW Chap.

43.21C. In particular, SEPA requires that "all state agencies. . . shall:"

e) Study, develop, and describe appropriate alternatives to recommended courses of action in any proposal which involves unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses of available resources;

RCW 43.21C.030(2)(e). The record is replete with "unresolved conflicts" on the use of "available resources," emphasizing impacts on esthetic and recreational "resources." This rule is implemented by the SEPA Rules that require an EIS to "include actions that could feasibly attain or approximate a proposal's objectives, but at a lower environmental cost or decreased level of environmental degradation." WAC 197-11-440(5)(b). As the record shows, multiple comments on the DEIS highlighted this major violation of long established SEPA requirements.

Moreover, this Council's prior decisions fully support a thorough and exhaustive consideration of alternatives. For example, in *Whistling Ridge* Order 868, at page 37, Paragraph 23, this Council confirmed that "aesthetics and recreation are principal values to be advanced or preserved in implementation of this chapter." This includes the "responsibility to develop *site-specific* criteria for approval." *Id.* (emphasis supplied). From this authority, the Council adopted the site-specific alternative of "removing towers from corridors in which they would be prominently visible from numerous key viewing

⁵¹ EFSEC staff did not confirm this testimony on the record and did not call Ms. Bumpus as a witness.

areas" which "would adequately protect the scenic and cultural heritage of the Gorge." *Id.* at Paragraph 24.

There is no question that this proposal involves "unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses of available resources; . . ." However, this is an integrated renewable energy project with three elements: wind turbines, solar arrays and BESS. Importantly, the majority of the "unresolved conflicts" are with the wind turbines element, not the solar or BESS.

For example, the aerial firefighting concern is an unresolved conflict only because 500 foot tall wind turbines obstruct aircraft operations. But, neither the solar array nor BESS system are obstructions to aerial fighting. Indeed, if there was a fire in the lithium-ion batteries that spread onto surrounding vegetation, it could be fought from the air, but for the 500 foot tall spinning turbine blades.

Wildlife impacts have unresolved conflicts due to recognized impacts regarding
ferruginous hawk populations, as well as pronghorn antelope and other ground dwellers.
Concerns about hawk populations center on birds striking rotating turbine blades.
Though there are impacts to ground dwellers, the use of solar arrays, combined with
BESS, greatly reduces impacts to the endangered hawks.

TCC will not attempt to characterize or address impacts from the comprehensive project to YN cultural resources; it is our observation, however, that a significant part of their concern relates to the wind turbines, especially near the northerly ridgeline.

Issues related to deterioration of residential property values and impacts to economic development and tourism are related to the wind turbines and not materially impacted by the solar arrays or BESS.

Finally, for the two resource areas that RCW 80.50.010(2) obligates this Council to "enhance," esthetics and recreational benefits, the wind turbines are the sole damaging factor. The FVIA's assessment of the visual impacts show that for each KOP the visual and esthetic impacts are "negligible for solar arrays." See pages 26-28. The

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 46

same is true for visual and esthetic impacts from substations and BESS. Because of 2 their low profile, and because they are substantially set back from the ridgeline, these facilities do not impact visual or esthetic issues.⁵²

The same is true for recreational impacts. As noted above, the BLM recreational parcel and community trails are located along the ridgeline. Again, because they are set some distance from them, the solar arrays, substations and BESS facilities do not impact recreation.

These circumstances plainly require careful consideration of alternatives, both under SEPA and EFSEC's organic statute. An obvious alternative is to de-emphasize wind turbines and enhance the solar arrays and BESS facilities. One of the most impacted communities, Benton City, has specifically recommended to "consider expanding the solar array to balance power losses from removal of wind turbines." EXH-5822 R. Indeed the Applicant's project manager, Mr. Kobus testified: Well, you couple the batteries ideally with solar. Because you know solar only generates when the sun shines And its, you know, an optimization technique to add the storage.

Dep at 110:9-14. Mr. Kobus went on to say:

That's typically how utilities use it [BESS] in the current market is, they'll use the solar to charge it, and then they'll dispatch it sometime later when there is no solar and they have peak needs.

Id., 110:20-25.

In addition, the inclusion of solar allows a user to avoid transmission congestion and the "grid injection capacity" that has already resulted in some reduction to the wind element of the project. Kobus Dep 68:1-6.

As described above, the substitution of solar arrays for wind turbines will address

⁵² The FVIA states at page 30: "The proposed BESSs would not be visible from KOPs 1, 2, 5, 8, 9, 10. 11. 13. and the Horse Heaven Hills Recreation Area, therefore no impacts from these Project components would occur on these views" (emphasis supplied).

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 47

the majority of the adverse elements of the proposals. In that manner, the proposal would still be a major renewable clean energy project that "encourages the development and integration of clean energy sources" RCW 80.50.010(3).

This limited alternatives analysis recognizes that not every site or property is suitable for every type of renewable facility. The elongated site (25 miles) is uniquely <u>unsuited</u> for wind turbines, where it "dominates" views, creating high, long term impacts on most iconic landscape features.⁵³ A feasible alternative might include a modest number of wind turbines set well back from the ridge line, farther away from the Tri-Cities viewshed which is such an important feature of the Tri-Cities community. Such a reorientation of the project is consistent with testimony from Benton City.⁵⁴ Eliminating turbine strings to the south is a step toward the mitigation suggested by TCC's witness on esthetics, Dean Apostol in EXH-5906_R, as discussed in response to Council questions at Tr. 1410:7 to 1415:8.

Consideration of economic feasibility of the project alternatives has previously been considered to be outside this Counsel's considerations. As stated in Council Order 870 (Whistling Ridge), December 12, 2011 at page 12: "The Council's decision does not turn on questions of whether the project would be economically feasible for the Applicant." Though not an issue, Applicant's Project Manager Mr. Kobus admits if just Phase 1 of the project were built: "I would believe there might be somebody out there that just wants Phase 1."⁵⁵ Dep at 106:7-14. Economic feasibility, even if was a Council issue, does not appear to be a material factor in the expansion of alternative

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 48

1

2

⁵³ The site chosen is also limited because turbines cannot be located further south (and more out of the Tri-Cities view scape) because of Department of Defense limitations. Kobus Dep at 33:9-24.

⁵⁴ EXH-5822_R, page 10: "At a minimum, move Wind Turbines back from ridgelines and existing housing."

⁵⁵ He also admits that "there are projects that are much smaller than this that are being developed and sold either to commercial entities or to utilities." Dep at 107:23 to 108:3. A smaller project was not considered because: "we're a big project developer." Dep at 108:6-8.

analysis.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

24

25

26

27

28

Here the Council should require that all reasonable alternatives be included that would protect the esthetic, cultural, wildlife, recreation and property values of the public and the community.

IX. REQUESTED ACTION.

As described in this brief, there are multiple procedural and substantive deficiencies to the proposal.

9.1 Incomplete Information.

9 As a threshold matter, the proposal is not ready for review because there are
10 multiple gaps in information necessary to determine consistency with regulations.

First, as described in Section III, the Council should reopen the adjudication to
allow for integration of the completed FEIS in the proceeding. The current course of the
Council in forcing the parties to rely on a DEIS that will be shortly superceded (October,
18, 2023) is clear and prejudicial error.

Second, the adjudication should be reopened to require disclosure of important
project features as required by EFSEC regulations, including the water supply for the
proposal, plans for the BESS proposals, and drawings and maps showing the facilities
planned for the Phases proposed by the applicant. See Section 4 of this brief at pages
8-13.

<u>Third</u>, the most important of the missing disclosures is a complete consideration
 of project alternatives, as required by SEPA and by EFSEC's own regulations. This
 analysis must include consideration of alternatives that reduce impacts. See Section VII
 herein.

Because the record fails to include required information and analysis, the proposal should be denied.

9.2. Balancing and "Net Benefit."

As described herein, RCW 80.50.010 requires a careful balancing analysis of the positive and negative aspects of the proposal with an ultimate determination of whether the proposal provides a net benefit. The record reveals a bloated project centered on wind turbines – an undependable and fickle resource – sponsored by an applicant that simply wants the biggest project possible.

On the negative side of the equation are multiple factors, beginning with the massive size of the proposal. With 231 turbines, stretching 25 miles in multiple parallel rows this is, by far, the largest wind turbines project in Washington. While there could be locations where this behemoth might be acceptable, the site chosen is close to being the worst possible, impacting residents, recreators, and commercial interests because of its dominating esthetic and visual impacts within view of more than 100,000 people. The project has substantial negative impacts on aerial firefighting, local land use codes, wildlife and cultural resources of the Yakama Nation.

Most importantly, the project deliberately defies this Council's legislative mandate to "enhance the public opportunity to enjoy the esthetic and recreational benefits of the air, water and land resources." In fact, the record demonstrates that there are high, long-term negative impacts on esthetic and recreational resources, with collateral impacts on residential property values, tourism and economic values.

There is no "net benefit" from this project. It creates substantial negative impacts to recognized community interests for thousands of local residents. With the obdurate refusal of the Applicant to budge an inch from its overwrought plan, the Council must deny the proposal.

DATED 13th day of October, 2023.

/s/ J. Richard Aramburu, WSBA #466 Attorney for Tri-Cities C.A.R.E.S.

> LAW OFFICES OF J. RicHARD ARAMBURU, PLLC 705 2ND AVE., SUITE 1300 SEATTLE 98104 Telephone (206) 625-9515 FAX (206) 682-1376 aramburulaw.com

TCC'S POSTHEARING BRIEF - 50

1	DECLARATION OF SERVICE										
2	I hereby certify that I have this day served the foregoing upon the parties of										
3	record in this proceeding (listed below my signature block) by authorized method of										
4	service pursuant to WAC 463-30-120(3) to the email addresses for parties as provided.										
5	Dated at Seattle, Washington 13 th day of October, 2023.										
6											
7	<u>/s/</u> Carol Cohoe, Legal Assistant										
8	Law Offices of J. Richard Aramburu, PLLC										
9	PARTIES OF RECORD										
10	Kenneth Harper, Aziza Foster Shona Voelckers										
11	Menke Jackson Beyer, LLPYakama Nation807 North 39th Avenueshona@yakamanation-olc.orgYakima WA 98902ethan@yakamanation-olc.org										
12 13	By Email: kharper@mjbe.com; jessica@yakamanation-olc.org zfoster@mjbe.com; Julie@mjbe.com										
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26	EFSEC StaffRyan BrownChief Deputy Prosecuting AttorneyBenton County Prosecuting AttorneyT211 West Okanogan Place, Building AKennewick, WA 99336Counsel for Benton CountyBy Email:Ryan.Brown @co.benton.wa.usSarah ReyneveldOffice of the Attorney General800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000Seattle, WA 98104-3188Counsel for the EnvironmentBy Email:By Email: Sarah.Reyneveld@atg.wa.govCEPSeaEF@atg.wa.gov;julie.dolloff@atg.wa.govTim McMahanStoel Rives LLP760 SW Ninth Avenue, Suite 3000Portland, OR 97205Counsel for Scout Clean Energy, LLCBy Email: tim.mcmahan@stoel.comemily.schimelpfenig@stoel.com;ariel.stavitsky@stoel.com										
27 28	LAW OFFICES OF J. RICHARD ARAMBURU, PLLC 7052 ND AVE. SUITE 1300 SEATTLE 98104 Telephone (206) 625-9515 FAX (206) 682-1376 FAX (206) 682-1376 aramburulaw.com										

POTENTIAL	ACTION ITEM



Washington State Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council

AGENDA

EFSEC Agenda for October Council meeting, released 10-11-2023.

APPENDIX A

VIRTUAL MEETING ONLY

MONTHLY MEETING
Wednesday October 18, 2023
<u>1:30 PM</u>

Conference number: (253) 372-2181 ID: 56502492#

1. Call to Order 2. Roll Call 3. Proposed Agenda		Andrea Grantham, EFSEC Staff
4. Minutes	Meeting Minutes	-
	September 20, 2023 Monthly Meeting Minutes	·
5. Projects	a. Kittitas Valley Wind Project	
0.110,000	Operational Updates	Fric Melbardis, EDP Renewables
	b. Wild Horse Wind Power Project	
	Operational Updates	lennifer Galbraith, Puget Sound Energy
	c. Chehalis Generation Facility	
	Operational Updates	Jeremy Smith, Chebalis Generation
	d. Grays Harbor Energy Center	
	Operational Updates	Chris Sherin, Gravs Harbor Energy
	e. Columbia Solar	
	Operational Updates	Thomas Cushing. Greenbacker Capital
	f. Columbia Generating Station	
	Operational Updates	Felicia Naiera-Paxton. Energy Northwest
	g. WNP – 1/4	, , ,
	Non-Operational Updates	Felicia Najera-Paxton, Energy Northwest
	h. Goose Prairie Solar	
	Project Updates	Scott Wilson, Brookfield Renewable
	i. High Top & Ostrea	
	Project Updates	Ami Hafkemeyer, EFSEC Staff
	j. Whistling Ridge	
	Project Updates	Lance Caputo, EFSEC Staff
	k. Desert Claim	
	Resolution Amendment	Ami Hafkemeyer, EFSEC Staff
	The Council may consider taking FINAL ACTION on the Resolution granting	the Amendment Request for the Desert Claim
	project.	
	I. Horse Heaven Wind Farm	
	Project Updates	Ami Hafkemeyer, EFSEC Staff
	Final Environmental Impact Statement presentation	Sean Greene, EFSEC Staff
	m. Badger Mountain	
	Project Updates	Joanne Snarski, EFSEC Staff
	n. Wautoma Solar	
	Project Updates	
	Extension Request	Lance Caputo, EFSEC Staff
	The Council may take FINAL ACTION on granting the extension request.	
	o. Hop Hill Solar	
	Project Updates	
	Land Use Order Motion	
	The Council may take ACTION on whether to direct staff to prepare a Land L	Jse Order.

Note: "FINAL ACTION" means a collective positive or negative decision, or an actual vote by a majority of the members of a governing body when sitting as a body or entity, upon a motion, proposal, resolution, order, or ordinance. RCW 42.30.020

POTENTIAL ACTION ITEM

narski, EFSEC Staff
impus, EFSEC Staff
Drew, EFSEC Chair
l

6.

7.

KOP #	Viewer Name	Viewer Type	Distance to Project	Viewer Position	Approx. Extent of Horizontal View Occupied by Project	Level of Visual Contrast	Magnitude of Impact	Impact Description	DEIS Appendix 3.10-2 SWCA 2022 Final Visual Impact Assessment (FVIA) APPENDIX B
1	McNary NWR	Recreation	5.2 miles	Inferior	80 degrees	Moderate	Medium	The tall, proposed turbines would the existing Nine Canyon Wind Pr location, but the proposed turbine scale with the existing landscape. toward the Lease Boundary. The wind turbines rising above the lan motion introduced by the spinning attract attention from viewers and landscape character. Because vis visiting for a limited time, the leve by the short view duration limiting these views. The Project would e: occupied by moving wind turbines this inferior viewing angle, resultir impacts on views.	roject, also visible from this is would be larger and out of Views would be unobstructed prominence of the proposed dscape, including additional g turbine blades, would further dominate the existing sitors and travelers would be l of contrast would be reduced the influence of the Project on xpand the extent of view and would be prominent from
2	S Clodfelter Road – East, Central, and West	Residential	3.0 miles	Inferior	200 degrees	Strong	High	The proposed turbines would don approximately 3 miles away, as a would include moving wind turbin open, rolling hills would be unobs would include the existing Nine C occupies only a narrow portion of this location. The series of propos would be highly prominent in the term impacts on views, particularl turbines would overlap and appear	large portion of the viewshed es. Views of the Project in tructed. Views toward the east anyon Wind Project, which the landscape as viewed from sed skylined wind turbines view, resulting in high, long- y where views of multiple wind
3	Chandler Butte	Recreation	2.5 miles	Superior	50 degrees	Strong	High	The proposed turbines would don approximately 2.5 miles away, as viewshed would include moving w Project in an open plains landsca with views of the existing Nine Ca approximately 20 miles away on t superior viewing angle, the contra the turbines and the darker color strong visual contrast, visible to re Butte. The series of proposed win prominent in the view resulting in views, particularly where views of overlap and appear larger in mas	a moderate portion of the vind turbines. Views of the pe would be unobstructed, inyon Wind Project occurring he distant hills. Due to the ast between the light color of of the ground would create ecreationists along Chandler id turbines would be highly high, long-term impacts on multiple wind turbines would

Table 4. Key Observation Point/Viewpoint Impact Table – Turbine Option 1

KOP #	Viewer Name	Viewer Type	Distance to Project	Viewer Position	Approx. Extent of Horizontal View Occupied by Project	Level of Visual Contrast	Magnitude of Impact	Impact Description
4	I-82 South	Travel route	7.0 miles	Inferior	100 degrees	Moderate	Medium	The proposed turbines would attract attention from this location, approximately 7 miles away, as a large portion of the viewshed would include moving wind turbines. Due to the distance, the turbine's form would be distinguishable, but the texture and color would be muted and less detailed. Views from I-82 include an existing transmission line and the Nine Canyon Wind Project, approximately 12 miles away, with these existing features influencing but not dominating views from this location. As travelers drive I-82 from this point to KOP 6, approximately 10 miles, impacts on views of the proposed wind turbines would incrementally increase. From this location, the turbines would be viewed unobstructed and skylined, which would attract attention—particularly where only moving turbine blades would be seen over the horizon. The impacts on these views would be medium and long term.
5	Badger Mountain	Recreation	4.7 miles	Level	150 degrees	Strong	High	The proposed turbines would dominate views from this location, approximately 5 miles away, as a large portion of the viewshed would include moving wind turbines. Views of the Project in open, rolling hills would be unobstructed, with views of the Project occurring beyond developed lands of Badger and the Horse Heaven Hills ridgeline. The series of proposed skylined wind turbines would be highly prominent in the view, resulting in high, long-term impacts on views—particularly where views of multiple wind turbines would overlap and appear larger in mass.
6	Bofer Canyon Road/I-82	Travel route	1.7 miles	Level	120 degrees	Strong	High	The proposed turbines would be viewed in context with an existing transmission line from this KOP. The existing transmission line has introduced strong vertical lines into the existing setting. Due to the proximity of the proposed turbines (less than 2 miles), the introduction of movement into the landscape, and the extent of view occupied by these structures, the Project would dominate views from this location along Bofer Canyon Road and I-82. These impacts would continue to increase as viewers would pass the existing transmission line into an area where views of the proposed turbines would be highly prominent as viewed both to the east and west. Based on the landscape modifications introduced by the proposed wind turbines, the Project would result in high, long-term impacts on views.

KOP #	Viewer Name	Viewer Type	Distance to Project	Viewer Position	Approx. Extent of Horizontal View Occupied by Project	Level of Visual Contrast	Magnitude of Impact	Impact Description
7	Highway 221	Travel route, residential	5.8 miles	Level	70 degrees	Moderate	Medium	The proposed turbines would be viewed in context with a distant existing transmission line, which has introduced a series of skylined structures along the horizon. The proposed turbines would, however, appear larger and out of scale with the features of the existing landscape. Views would be unobstructed toward the Lease Boundary. The prominence of the proposed wind turbines rising above the landscape, including the introduction of motion, would further attract attention from viewers and modify the existing landscape character. The Project would be prominent within a moderate portion of the viewshed, resulting in medium, long-term impacts on views.
8	Kennewick (Canyon Lakes Area) – South and West	Residential	3.6 miles	Inferior	170 degrees	Strong	High	The proposed turbines would dominate views from this location, approximately 3.5 miles away, as a large portion of the viewshed would include moving wind turbines. Views of the Project in open, rolling hills would be unobstructed with views toward the west including an existing transmission line. Views to the southeast include the existing Nine Canyon Wind Project, which occupies a narrow portion of the landscape as viewed from this location. The series of proposed skylined wind turbines would be highly prominent in the view resulting in high, long- term impacts on views, particularly where views of multiple wind turbines would overlap and appear larger in mass.
9	Benton City	Residential, travel route, commercial	2.7 miles	Inferior	10 to 80 degrees (based on level of screening)	Moderate	Medium	The proposed wind turbines would be intermittently screened by development within Benton City, with partial screening of the Project features occurring where the Horse Heaven Hills would partially obstruct views to the south. Where visible, there would be a limited number of turbines in view, as depicted in the visual simulation (Attachment B). The presence and motion of the turbines would attract attention but would appear co-dominant with other commercial and residential developments. Views from other areas within the city may have more expansive, unobstructed views of the proposed wind turbines similar to KOPs 2 and 10. The Project would expand the extent of view occupied by moving wind turbines and would be prominent from this inferior viewing angle, resulting in medium, long-term impacts on views.

KOP #	Viewer Name	Viewer Type	Distance to Project	Viewer Position	Approx. Extent of Horizontal View Occupied by Project	Level of Visual Contrast	Magnitude of Impact	Impact Description
10	Badger Road	Residential, travel route	1.5 miles	Inferior	150 degrees	Strong	High	The proposed turbines would dominate views from this location, approximately 1.5 miles away, as a large portion of the viewshed would include moving wind turbines. Views of the proposed wind turbines, from an inferior viewing angle, would be partially screened by topography and intermittently screened by development. Movement associated with the turbine blades would be highly visible, particularly where only the blades would visible, repeatedly rising over the hills. Based on the level of contrast introduced by the proposed wind turbines, which are much larger in scale than existing modifications in view, the Project would result in high, long-term impacts on views.
11	Highland/ Finley Area	Residential	2.0 miles	Inferior	100 degrees	Strong	High	The proposed turbines would dominate views from this location, approximately 2 miles away, as a large portion of the viewshed would include moving wind turbines. Views of the Project on the Horse Heaven Hills would be unobstructed, with views toward the southwest including residential and agricultural development, as well as the existing Nine Canyon Wind Project, which occupies a moderate portion of the landscape as viewed from this location. The series of proposed skylined wind turbines would be highly prominent in the view, resulting in high, long- term impacts on views, particularly where views of multiple wind turbines would overlap and appear larger in mass.
12	County Well Road	Residential, travel route	2.5 miles	Level	100 degrees	Moderate	Medium	The proposed turbines would be viewed in context with an existing transmission line. The existing transmission line has modified the existing setting, including the introduction of distinct, vertical lines. Due to the proximity of the proposed turbines (approximately 2.5 miles), the introduction of movement into the landscape, and the extent of view occupied by these structures, the Project would attract attention and begin to dominate views from this location. In consideration of the existing modifications in view, the Project would result in medium, long-term impacts on views from this location. These impacts would continue to increase as viewers would pass the existing transmission line into an area where views of the proposed wind turbines would be prominent.

KOP #	Viewer Name	Viewer Type	Distance to Project	Viewer Position	Approx. Extent of Horizontal View Occupied by Project	Level of Visual Contrast	Magnitude of Impact	Impact Description
13	Travis Road South of Sellards Road	Residential, travel route	1.1 miles	Level	150 degrees	Strong	High	The proposed turbines would dominate views from this location, approximately 1 mile away, as a large portion of the viewshed would include moving wind turbines. Views of the Project in open, rolling hills would be unobstructed within a mostly intact existing landscape. The series of proposed skylined wind turbines would be highly prominent in the view, resulting in high, long-term impacts on views, particularly where views of multiple wind turbines would overlap and appear larger in mass.
N/A	Dispersed residences located 0.5 mile from proposed turbines (foreground views)	Residential	Less than 0.5 mile	Level	Up to 300 degrees	Strong	High	The proposed turbines would dominate views from dispersed residences located within the foreground distance zone (includes views from participating and non-participating properties). These views would be most impacted where views of the existing Nine Canyon Wind Project and existing transmission lines would be screened with the proposed turbines dominating a viewshed with limited existing modifications. The prominence of the proposed wind turbines rising above the landscape, including additional motion introduced by the turbine blades, would further attract attention from viewers and dominate the existing landscape character, resulting in high, long-term impacts on views from these locations. Viewers located on participating properties may have less visual sensitivity to modifications introduced by the Project, compared to viewers located on non-participating properties, but the level of visual contrast and Project dominance would remain the same.
N/A	Horse Heaven Hills Recreation Area	Recreation	0.8 mile	Superior, level, and inferior	Up to 140 degrees	Strong	High	Views from the Horse Heaven Hills Recreation Area vary based on location, with elevated views represented by KOP 3, located on Chandler Butte, to inferior views occurring below the ridgeline and similar to KOPs 9 and 10. In general, views from this recreation area would be highly impacted where the Project would modify a large portion of the viewshed through the introduction of moving wind turbines. While hiking on trails below the ridge but within the recreation area, views may be partially screened by topography where visitors would only see the moving turbine blades repeatedly rising over the ridgeline as described for KOP 10. Viewers along the ridgeline trail would be located directly adjacent to the proposed turbines, where views would be strongly altered by the Project. The series of proposed wind turbines would be highly prominent in the view, resulting in high, long-term impacts on views from Chandler Butte, below the ridgeline trails, and from the ridgeline trail.